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DOCUMENT NAME/FILE DATE

AMENDED INFORMATION (2/10/09)

APPELLANT'S FAST TRACK STATEMENT
DOCKET NO. 53859 (8/19/09)

DEFENDANT’S BRIEF ON ADMISSIBILITY
OF EVIDENCE OF ALLEGED VICTIM’S
HISTORY OF SUICIDE ATTEMPTS, ANGER
OUTBURSTS, ANGER MANAGEMENT
THERAPY, SELF-MUTILATION (WITH
KNIVES AND SCISSORS) AND ERRATIC
BEHAVIOR (3/20/09)

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SETTLE
THE RECORD (3/24/09)

DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO STATE’S
MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
CRIMES (2/6/09)

DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION IN
LIMINE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045 AND
EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
PURSUANT TO 48.061 (1/18/11)

DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED EXHIBIT
B (MONTE VISTA HOSPITAL RECORDS)

DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED JURY
INSTRUCTIONS (8/23/10)

INFORMATION (12/19/08)

INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY (3/20/09)
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598-606

694-699
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2449-2480
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1038-1096
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650-692
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INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY (9/2/10) 2191-2218
JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

(5/8/09) 709-710
MINUTES (1/6/09 - 5/5/09) 713-720
MINUTES (4/29/10, 5/20/10, 6/6/10) 746-748
MINUTES (9/1/10 — 9/2/10) 2221-2224
MINUTES (9/16/10) 2235
MINUTES (9/14/10) 2239

NOTICE OF APPEAL
(5/21/09) 711-712

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT'S EXPERT
WITNESSES (3/5/09) 40-45

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT’S WITNESSES
(3/6/09) 58-61

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO
ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES
(BY STATE) (2/2/09) 7-22

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY

DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE

STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL

OTHER ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE

AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNFAIRLY
PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS (7/21/10) 749-765
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DOCUMENT NAME/FILE DATE

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY

DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE
PERTAINING TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM’S
MENTAL HEALTH CONDITION AND HISTORY,
INCLUDEING PRIOR SUICIDE ATTEMPTS,
ANGER OUTBURSTS, ANGER MANAGEMENT
THERAPY, SELF-MUTILATION AND ERRATIC

BEHAVIOR (7/21/10)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT FOR DISCOVERY
(8/2/10)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO SUPPRESS HIS
STATEMENTS TO POLICE, OR,
ALTERNATIVELY, TO PRECLUDE THE
STATE FROM INTRODUCING PORTIONS
OF HIS INTERROGATION

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO PRECLUDE EXPERT
TESTIMONY

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO PRECLUDE THE STATE
FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL
IMPROPER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT
(1/3/11)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION IN

LIMINE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045 AND

EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
PURSUANT TO 48.061 (BY STATE)
(1/6/11)
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826-872

880-887

2246-2315

2321-2343
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DOCUMENT NAME/FILE DATE

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO DISMISS ON GROUNDS OF
DOUBLE JEOPARDY BAR AND SPEEDY
TRIAL VIOLATION AND, ALTERNATIVELY,
TO PRECLUDE STATE’S NEW EXPERT
WITNESS, EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT
RELATING TO THE DYNAMICS OR EFFECTS
OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE
(1/7/11)

NOTICE OF WITNESSES AND/OR
EXPERT WITNESSES (BY STATE) (2/3/09)

NOTICE OF WITNESSES AND/OR
EXPERT WITNESSES (BY STATE) (2/17/09)

NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/5/09)

OHIO V. BETTS, 2007 OHIO APP LEXIS,
4873 (2007)

ORDER OF REVERSAL AND REMAND,
DOCKET NO. 53859 (4/7/10)

ORDER GRANTING, IN PART, AND
DENYING, IN PART, MOTION BY
DEFENDANT O’KEEFE FOR DISCOVERY
(8/23/10)

ORDER GRANTING, IN PART, AND

DENYING, IN PART, MOTION BY DEFENDANT
O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER ACT
EVIDENCE AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH

IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD
VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
(9/9/10)

PAGE NO.

2344-2370

23-24

38-39

56-57

2588-2596

737-738

1097-1098

2236-2238
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REMITTITUR, DOCKET NO. 53859
(5/7/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
JANUARY 20, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
FEBRUARY 10, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
MARCH 10, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY TWO, MARCH 17, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY THREE, MARCH 18, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY FOUR, MARCH 19, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY FIVE, MARCH 20, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
APRIL 7, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT (SENTENCING)
MAY 5, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 17, 2010
(11/23/10)

PAGE NO.

739-745

4-6

30-34

64-68

375-442

443-494

495-548

549-597

704-703

704-708

929-949
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DOCUMENT NAME/FILE DATE

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 19, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 20, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
(PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL (DAY ONE),
AUGUST 23, 2010

(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
(PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL (DAY TWO),
AUGUST 24, 2010

(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY THREE), AUGUST 25, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY FOUR), AUGUST 26, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY FIVE), AUGUST 27, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY SIX), AUGUST 30, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY SEVEN), AUGUST 31, 2010
(11/23/10)

PAGE NO.

956-992

996-1037

1099-1122

1123-1135

1136-1258

1259-1552

1553-1790

1791-2016

2017-2190
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DOCUMENT NAME/FILE DATE

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY EIGHT), SEPTEMBER 1, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY NINE), SEPTEMBER 2, 2010
(11/23/10)

SECOND AMENDED INFORMATION

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE PERTAINING
TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM’S MENTAL
HEALTH CONDITION AND HISTORY (8/16/10)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS STATEMENTS

TO POLICE, OR ALTERNATIVELY, TO
PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING
PORTIONS OF HIS INTERROGATION (8/17/09)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO
PRECLUDE EXPERT TESTIMONY (8/18/10)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL IMPROPER
EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT (1/12/11)

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER BAD ACTS
OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND OTHER
EVIDENCE THAT IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL
OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS (8/16/10)
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2219-2220

2225-2232

993-995

900-905

915-928

950-955

2371-2428

891-899
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STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO
DISMISS, AND, ALTERNATIVELY, TO
PRECLUDE EXPERT AND ARGUMENT
REGARDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
(1/18/11)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/10/09)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/11/09)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY DEFENDANT) (8/16/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF
DEFENDANT’S EXPERT WITNESSES
(7/21/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (8/13/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (8/16/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (1/3/11)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (1/14/11)

TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL (DAY ONE)
MARCH 16, 2009
(10/14/09)

TRANSCRIPT (PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL
(DAY TWO) MARCH 17, 2009
(3/18/09)

PAGE NO.

2481-2538

62-63

69-70

888-890

7185-816

878-879

906-914

2316-2320

2429-2432

71-369

370-374
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TRANSCRIPT AUGUST 12, 2010
(11/23/10)

TRANSCRIPT SEPTEMBER 16, 2010
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 13, 2011
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 18, 2011
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 20, 2011
(2/4/11)

VERDICT (3/20/09)

VERDICT SUBMITTED TO JURY BUT
RETURNED UNSIGNED (9/2/10)
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873-877

2240-2245

2433-2448

2539-2544

2545-2587

693

2233-2234
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NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE
STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL IMPROPER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT

COMES NOW the Defendant, Brian O'Keefe, by and thrc%ﬁgh hlS éﬁemeyi
Patricia Palm of Palm Law Firm, Ltd., and hereby moves this Honorable Court for an
Order precluding the State from introducing at trial improper evidence and argumen

which is irrelevant and overly preiudicial and would violate O’Keefe's _cénstitutiona

rights to due process and a fair trial, S
This Moticn is made and based upon the following Points and Autﬁorﬁ’ties, all

papers and documents on file in these proceedings, the attached Exhibifsg ‘and any
argument as may be;ﬂat the time of hearing. B
Dated this day of January, 2011.
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| above-entitled-Court-or-as-soon-thereafier-as-Counset-may beheard™

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff, and

TO: DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will brsng on the above

and attached MOTION BY DEFENDANT O'’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE

FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL IMPROPER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT}Q& the

Yb day of¢ lﬁi\_) , 2011, at the hour of .m., in Department No. XVii of the

DATED this ﬁdé% of January, 2011.

i\levada Bar No. 86008
1212 Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Attorney for Defendant
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o EATR AP ATNTES
The State charged Defendant Brian K. O'Keefe with murder with use of a deadly
weapon for the alleged November 5, 2008 killing of Victoria Whitmarsh. On January 20,
2009, he entered a plea of nof guilty and invoked his constitutional and statdtofy rights
{o a speedy trial. On February 2, 2009, the State filed a motion to admit evidence of
other crimes, which O'Keefs opposed. The Court ruled that the State could introduce
evidence of threats to the alleged victim Whitmarsh through witness cnem Morris, &

woman whom O’Keefe had dated then rejected. Morris claimed that C)’Kegfe ‘stated
desire to kill Whitmarsh and also demonstrated to Morris his proficiency at hciy fo kil

with-knives:—The Court further Tuled that thé State could infroduce O'Keefe's prio
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Judgment of Conviction for felony domestic battery involving Whitmarsh.  Further, i
O’Keefe testified, then the State could prove his other prior felony convictions. Pursuant
to the Court's ruling, the State was permitted to introduce oniy‘ the details of 'when
O'Keefe was convicted, in which jurisdiction, and the names of the offenses, and‘ with
the felony domestic battery, the fact that Whitmarsh had testified against hlm in that
case. 3/16/02 TT 2-16, Exh. A (attached). -
This case was first tried before this Court beginning March 16, 2009, After ﬁvj
days of trial, on March 20, 2009, the jury returned a verdict finding O'Keefe géu’lfy o
second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. On May 5, 2009, this Court
sentenced O'Keefe to 10 to 25 years for second-degree murder and a consecutive 96 to
240 months (8 to 20 years) on the deadiy weapon enhancement. ' S
O’'Keefe timely appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. After bﬁéﬁng; ihé,,Courf
reversed O'Keefe's conviction, agreeing with him that the district court “erred 'by'givéng
the State’s proposed instruction on second-degree murder because it set ferth an
a!tematfve theory of second-degree murder, the charging document did not ai!ege this
altemate theory, and no evidence supported this theory.” The Court expia_med,-_-“[’l_’]h
State's charging document did not allege that O'Keefe killed the victim while he waj

committing an unlawful act and the evidence presented at trial did not support: this|

3
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140

theory of second-degree murder,” Q’Keefe y. State, NSC Dockef No. 53859, Order of
Reversal and Remand {April 7, 2010). The Court further stated, “The &istri;at court's|
error in giving this instruction was not harmless because it is not clear beyond &
reasonable doubt that a rational juror would have found O'Keefe guilty of ‘seconds

degree murder absent the erra_r." Id. at 2.

After remand to this Court, O’Keefe continued to assert his rights to a speedyl
trial, and the case was refried beginning August 23, 2010. During that trial, the State
infroduced new bad act evidence and arguments never before noticed ahd!br tuled
upon. The retrial ended with a hung jury. Again- O'Keefe invoked his speedy t;iéi rights

and the case was set to begin a third trial on January 24, 2011.
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ThisHonorable Court has heard This {rial twice previously, and as recently ag
August 2010. Thus, only the facts necessary to resolution of the issues raised herein
are set forth anew, and they are so sst forth in conjunction with the arguments below.

In addition to all issués that O’Keefe has previously raised in these p?o&:é;ediags
and preserved for any future proceedings, O'Keefe asserts the following. ‘

ARGUMENT

QO'Keefe requests rulings from this Court prohibiting the State from %ntroducing,
and requiring the State to instruct its withesses to refrain from introducing, ifngsroper
other act evidence and other irrelevant and overly prejudicial evidence and afgu:?nent,
on the grounds that O'Keefe's right to & fair trial is jeopardized when thé ,Stafeim‘akes'
repeated attempts fo influence the jury with inadmissible evidence _é?}df iﬁbr‘dper
argument. | : |
The Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution,
as well as the Nevada Constitution, article 1, section 8, protect a cnmlnal defandan’s’g
right to a fair trial, at which he may confront and cross-examine witnesses and present
evidence in his defense. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 8. Ct, 1685 (1965);

Chambers v. Migsissippi. 410 U.S. 284, 93 S. Ct. 1038(19?3) U.s. Const amend 5 6
and 14; Nev. Const. art. 1, sec. 8. ' ‘

002249



10

NRS 48.015 provides that “relevant evidence” means evidence haski?ig any
tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the détérminatiorz
of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” NRS
48.025(2) recognizes that ‘[e]vidence which is not relevant is not 'adnifssible.”
Moreover, NRS 48.035 provides in part that: |

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is
substantially outwesghed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of
the issues or of misleading the jury. ’

2. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is
substantially outweighed by considerations of undue delay, waste of tzme
or needless presentation of cumulative svidence. , _
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Additionally, “[ajbsent certain exceptions, evidence of a person's character or d
trait of his character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that he -acted inl
conformity therewith on a particular occasion. Further, evidence of other crimes,
wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that
he acted in conformity therewith.” Taylor v. State, 109 Nev. 849, 853, 858 P.2d 843,
846 (1993). If the State wishes to prove that character or other act evige’nc‘e is
admissible under NRS 48.045(2), for the purpose of establishing proof of motive,
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistéke of
accident, the State must prove how these exceptions to the general rule “Spe;ifiéalfy
relate to the facts of this case. A mere recitation of the statute is not sufficient
justification for the admission of prior acts.” Id. at 854, 858 P.2d at 846. In a‘éd;tibﬁ, the
State “may not present character evidence as rebuttal to a defense which the accused
has not yet presented.” Id. st 854, 858 P.2d at 847; Roever v. State, 114 Név?&ﬁ?,
B71, 963 P.2d 503, 505 (1998) (*[Tjhe bad character testimony should naver .héifé been
introduced because it was not in rebuttal to a defense made by the gccﬁéé&,”"idifiag,
NRS 48.045(1)(a)). o

“Before an issue can be said to be raised, which would permit the -
introduction of such evidence so obviously prejudicial to the accused, it
must have been raised in substance if not in so many words, and the -

5 : >‘I.'_?U002250




probative value of the evidence is rnot substantially outweighed by the danger :gf unfair

issue so raised must be one to which the prejudicial evidence is relevant.
The mere theory that a plea of not guilty puts everything material in issue
is not enough for this purpose. The prosecution cannot credit the accused
with fancy defenses in order to rebut them at the outset with some
damning piece of prejudice.”

Tavior, 114 Nev. at 854, 858 P.2d at 846 (quoting McCormick on Evidence § 190 at 452
n. 54 (Edward W. Cleary, 2d ed. 1972) (quoting Lord Summer in Thompson v. Tﬁe_ King,

App. Cas. 221, 232 (1918))). Prior to admitting such evidencs, the State must first bring
a “Petrocelli” motion and request a hearing to determine if (1) the incident is relevant to

the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidance;" éand (3) the
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prejudice.” Roever, 114 Nev. at 872, 963 P.2d at 505-06 (citing Tinch v, State, 113
Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997); (Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692

P.2d 503 (1985)). However, even if the cther-act evidence is relevant to a permissible]
purpose and proven by clear and convincing evidence, a court should S‘tﬂ? excﬁ!ii;ie it if
its probative value is subsiantially outweighed by the danger of unfair pre;adice;" 1d. &t
872, 963 P.2d at 505-06 (citing Tinch, 113 Nev. at 1176, 846 P.2d at 1064-65.

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that the use of character evidence tq

convict a defendant is exiremely disfavored in our criminal justice sys'tem.‘;_ Such
evidence is likely to be prejudicial and irrelevant and forces the accused _"ta udefend
against vague and unsubstantiated charges. It may improperly inﬁuefzée;the -}'_erland
result in the accused’s conviction because the jury believes he is a bad per_sc,n; Tﬁe usg
of such evidence to show a propensity to commit the crime charged is deaﬁylzpfahibited
by the law of this state and is commonly regarded as sufficient ground for ,r'evgzréa% on
appeal. See Tavior, 109 Nev. at 854, 858 P.2d at 847 {(citing Bemer v. State, ‘1_04 !‘&e\q
695, 696-97, 765 P.2d 1144, 1145-46 (1988)). G

i
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in the prior felony domestic battery case €207835.

This Court ruled prior to the first trial of this matter that the evidence of O'Keefe's
felonty domestic battery conviction in C207835 and Cheryl Mormis's testimony that
O’'Keefe expressed hatred and a desire to kill Whitmarsh for testifying against-him in
that case would be admissible in the State’s case in chief as this was reievant.-tb the
charge of open murder. 3/16/09 TT (Exh. A), at 2-11. In conjunction with this evidence,
the Court ruled that Cheryl Morris's claims that O'Keefe had demonstrated to her how
he could kil people with knives was admissible and did not constitute bad act e%}idenc&
Id. at 16, The defense sought to exclude this evidence during the retrial of this maﬁef
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on a charge of second-degree murder; however, this Court denied the defense’s
request. See Notice of Motion and Motion, Exh. B {attached hereto); 8/19/10 TT at 2;
Order, Exh. C (attached hereto}. ‘

During the retrial for second-degree murder, the prosecutor argued in closing,
*she did take three years of his life because you know that defendant was p?eviousfy
tried, convicted and sent to prison after Victoria testified against him for baftering .zhgr
previously,” 831110 TT 93, Il 15-16. The prosecutor also arg‘ueé"tha"t \)icteriaa
Whitmarsh “sfood right here and in a courtroom fike this one and fastiﬁed"_ag’a'fﬂéz" thel
defendant.” 8131110 TT at 153-54. o

A transcript of Whitmarsh's testimony in C207835, however, demonst?atés‘ fhat

Whitmarsh testified that O'Keefe did not commit a domestic battery as cha'rgéd,i'ﬁ“tﬁgﬁ'

case. See Exh. D (Victoria Whitmarsh's testimony duning September 2005 Jury';i,'ﬁai in
C207835, pp. 18-24). Accordingly, the State should not be permitied té*'iht_mduce
evidence or argue that Whitmarsh actually testified against O'Keefe. | tf the“‘sfate
introduces the fact of Whitmarsh's testimony, O'Kesfe should be permitted'té 'intré‘ducel
the fact that the testimony was favorable to him, on the basis that Whitmérfsh’s actual
testimony impeaches Cheryl Morris's claims that O'Keefe hated Whitmarsh feftéstifﬁng

against him. Such introduction should not open the door to any othsr évidéhéé to
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support the prior conviction itself, because O’Keefe is not challenging the cqn&iction. |
He has a right, however, to impeach Morris’s ciaims that he expreéé'efg' —h‘at_red of
Whitmarsh because she testified against him. If necessary, a limiting iinstruétion canb
given so that the jury only considers Whitmarsh's favorable testimony for its prope

purpose.

2. Based upon the most recent and much expanded testimon bf Ch
Morris, and _argument relating thereto, this Court should reconsider |

previous ruhgg and preclude or limit the testimony and argument.

The State did not seek permission to introduce Morris's allegations about

O’Keefe's statements and demonstrations regarding killing with knives as prior bad act
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testimony. 3/18/09 TT, Exh. A, at 15-16. At that time, the evidence was limited to
Cheryl Morris’s claim that O’Keefe had claimed proficiency with knives and could kill
someone with a knife. When the defense raised the issue, the Court ruled that the
svidence did not show a bad act and that Morris would be allowed to testify rega.rding
the same. 3/116/09 TT (Exh. A}, at 14-16. ‘ o
Morris testified during the first trial that O'Keefe made statements ihéicati-ng that
he was proficient with knives and that he was capable of killing anyéae ‘with a knife.
According to Morris, he demonstrated how he would kill someone with a knife: "O'Keefq
wouid hold me on one shoulder and have a pretend sort of weapon in his ’nand and he
would stand there and hold me as ... arm'’s length and say he would come at me of
could come at a person and shove it through the cage - rib cage area and ;th;eln just pull
up prefty much . . . slicing someone open.” 3/17/08 TT 17. Morris demg}{é_jsiraféd this

slicing action on her sternum area. |d. at 17-18. AR

Prior to the second trial, the deferise again sought to exclude this eviééncé; '_S_e_q
Exh. B (attached hereto), Motion filed July 21, 2010. The Court heard argument on the
motion and ruled that the evidence was relevant and should be admitted. 8/18/10 TT 2;
see also Exh. C (Order filed September 9, 2010, p.1). During the first ’triai,~éll partie
operated under the assumption that O'Keefs could infroduce evidence of the loviﬁg an
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forward looking relationship of O'Keefe and Whitmarsh during the peﬁod aﬂés{ tie was|
released from prison.  3/16/09 Transcript at 12; 3/16/09 TT 259 {Jimnﬁy’ Hathcox
testimony that during period of time Whitmarsh and O'Keefe lived at El F’ar_qUe they
appeared to be an open and loving couple); 3/19/09 TT 19-21 {iestimony of Louis
DeSalvio that Whitrnarsh and O'Keefe seemed very upbeat in the fall of 2009}. During
the refrial in August, 2010, the State sought fo limit the evidence that O'Keefe could
infroduce as rebuttal to the evidence from Cheryl Morris regarding O'Keefe's alleged
hatred of Whitmarsh. 8/26/10 TT at 11-21. The Court limited the-deféns'é'té asking
what the witnesses saw during the relevant time period (versus opinion on the couple’s
interaction), so as to not open the door to cross-examination on other prior bad acts. 1d,
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at-2t,;
During the retrial, however, Morris greatly expanded on the claims she sarlier

made during her statement to the police, her preliminary hearing testimony and her first
trial testimony. At the retrial, the State elicited several acfual bad acts and bad
character evidence through Mornis’s testimony: Le., that O'Keefe had -icii!ed' people
before, that he had been kicked out of his abode, that he had yelled at Whitm'é#%h', and
evidence that Morris was afraid of O’Keefe, Morris also implied through her teétimeny
that O'Keefe was interested in resuming a relationship with her at thé tlme of
Whitmarsh’s death, Furthermore, for the first time, Morris testified that O'Keefe had
demonstrated yet another way of killing people, never hefore mentioned:'_'slibing
someone across the throat. 8/26/10 TT at 56. o
- Specificaily, Morris testified that O'Keefe would become angry over being sent tg
prison based upon a trial involving Whitmarsh. 1d. at 29-30. He would say hé hated the
bitch and wanted to Kill her. He did this multiple times. Id, at 30. During the sam
conversations, he would tell her about his experience in the miiitary killing people; 1d
He would talk about it and say it was either kil o be killed and he would talk about the
kind of weapon he would use. |d. He said the military trained him to kﬂl.: Id. He was
very eguipped for hand to hand combat, basically using a knife. He wduid. desc;ibe

killing someone by taking a knife and shoving it upwards toward their stemum and
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10

pulling up. Or perhaps coming up from behind and taking the knife from the left side of

the neck to the right side. I[d. at 31. The evidence of prior kilings is exiremely

prejudicial and not relevant to any issue in this case. It goes way beyond *e‘vidsme
pertinent to O'Keefe's skil or training, and depicts O'Keefe as an actual killer.
Moreover, because of the discrepancies between these allegations and all former]

testimony and statements, and Morris’s obvious motive to lie as a spumed lover, her
allegations about O'Keefe are now so incredible that they cannot meet thé'c'ie‘ér and
convincing standard for bad act admissibility. Furthermore, the alleged abf!itz? ‘tev kill
person with a knife by an upward slice from the chest or a slice across the throat |

irrelevant to this case where the alieged victim was kilfed by a puncture type stab woun
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TT 103, 118 (description of wound). Nothing occurred here which is close to the guttin
or upward sternum area slicing or neck slicing about which Morris now contend
O'Keefe had bragged. The State has shown no relevance, i.e., the evidence makes no
fact of consequence more or less probable. Additionally, the evidence tends ité show
that O'Keefe acted consistent with a character trait of being obsessed with killing with
knives and that he has killed before and is a killer. This is pure bad act or character
evidence, and is highfy inflammatory and unfairly prejudicial, and it must be eiduded in
order to protect O’Keefe’s constitutional rights to a fair trial. | ' :'
Morris also testified for the first time that O’Keefe gdt “kicked out” of the tr'a"iier‘l"le:J
was living in. 8/26/10 TT at 28. Whether O'Keefe was evicted is irslevant fo any fact of
consequence here, and the implication that grounds existed to gvict him lcﬁns'ﬁ‘t_utes
improper bad act evidence. The evidence's only use is improper: fo : shﬁi.«;“bad
character. |
Morris further testified at the retrial that O’Keefe was attracted to 'Whi't'\niarsh

because she was submissive. If he yelled at her, she'd do whatever he éskedf Id. at

32. Yelling at Whitmarsh consfitutes improper bad act evidencé, which "i_s‘ More
prejudicial than probative. Whether Whitmarsh was submissive also ‘obnétitutea
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improper character gvidence, which the State is attempting to use to sh‘o#e i:cr?fonnity
with this character trait at the time in question, o
Morris also testified for the first time that one week prior to the incident at issue,
O'Keefe had called her asking her to come over, but she refused. 1d. at 38. This wag
obviously infroduced to raise a question about the health of the re!aﬁcnsh_ip between
O'Keefe and Whitmarsh. However, it is obvicusly suspect, given that it has 'néye;' been
mentioned before during Morris's statement, or her three prior testimonies," Given tha
incredible nature of this evidence, it should be excluded as suspect and more prgji.;diéial

than probative.
Finally, Morris testified that after she and O’'Keefe moved into the E! F’arque
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apartment,then splitup; she moved her things Into 1hé bedroom and had maintenance,
put 3 tock on the bedroom door. 8/26/10 TT 36. This evidence is irrelevant to any fadﬁ
of consequence here and is overly prejudicial. it implies that Morris herseif was afraid

of O'Keefe and that there was reason for this ~ his dangerous charac’cer Amrdmgiyg it

is improper character evidence, and is irrelevant and overly prejudicial.

3. The State should be precluded from introducing evidence of thé Acdsﬂ
related fo the expert witnesses and improperly disparaging these experts.

During its cross-examination of defense expert George Schirp, the State %hﬁ;uiféd
regarding Schiro’s billing for each time this case went to tnal. Schiro feéfiﬁed '—tﬁa’t he
charged about $8,300 for the first testimony, and $5,000 or so for the second, for a total
of 11,300, 8/27/10 TT 61. During rebuttal closing argument, Mr. Lalli referred to Schiro:

"He's the defendant’s high-paid expert from Louisiana.” 8/31/10 TT 144, iLaili‘ further
argued that the amount of money Schiro was paid was relevant to his, ‘credib-ility,"and
that he was “paid over $10,000 — $10,000 to walk into this courtroom and say what hd
did” ld. at 145. “His total —~ bill in this case was over, over §10,000. And when
sormeone is getting that kind of money, do you think that they might extend fhemseives
a little bit? Do you think it's out of the realm of possibility that they might give ydu ﬁ:s? E
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little more because it's a business.” |d. As to Dr. Grey, Lalli argued, “Dr. ~Gf?}f'§amﬁ all
the way from Utah to tell us that he could not rule out suicide.” 8/31/10 TT at 159.
These types of comments on experts being from other }urisdictiohs and théi'r fees
constitute improper disparagement of defense experts. See Butler v, State. 120 Nev.
879, 898, 102 P.3d 71, 85 (2004) (citing Sipsas v. State, 102 Nev. 119, 125, 716 P.2d
231, 234-35 (1986); McGuire v. State, 100 Nev. 158, 677 P.2d 1060, 1064 (1984}),
Further, the fact that O'Keefe has had to undergo two prior trials is not due to ‘aﬁy faulf
of his. Therefore, it is unfair for the State to refer to the cumulative costs of presentin
the experts again. As the State’s above arguments contemplate, the higher the éost,
the more likely the jury will make an inference that the experts’ opinions are 'for sale.
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Fhis-Court-shoufd-prectude the State from IMroducing svidence relating to the costs o
prior trials and from making improper argument to éisparage defense experfs, -

cause of ﬁghﬁng ggginst domestic vuglence
Prior to the first trial, the State indicated that it would not introduce uevidanca of
domestic violence, except for the prior conviction for felony battery, and even that
evidence was to be limited. 3/16/09 TT 2-3, 12, Exh. A. I
Despite the prior rulings of this Court, and the understandings of the pames
during the 2010 retrial, the State repeatedly introduced the issue of domestts v;o!en
as a psychological syndrome, a community problem and cause. For exarr;ple du;‘i?‘i
voir dire, the State inquired of jurors whether they felt domestic violence was
“‘community problem.” The Court ruled that the State could not talk abbatddrr_iestic
violence syndromes or define that term. 8/23/10 TT (partial transcript), p. 16. ©
In closing argument, the prosecutor stated, “An anonymous domesffc vi'd!enée
survivor once made this observation. If you can’t be thankful for what you ﬁé‘ve, bel
thankful for what you have escaped.” 8/31/10 TT 32. In rebuttal closing argaz?r;eht, the
prosecutor argued, “If was Ralph Waido Emerson who said all violence, all that is
dreary, all that repels is not power. it is the absence of power, In baﬁering Victoria in
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the hours leading up or the minutes leading up to her ultimate death, "tf}e 'défendani
didn’t show us what kind of power he has. He showed us how weak he fs; ‘Men who
beat women.” 8/31/10 TT 132. The prosecutor further argued, “Mary Gs‘anocds who is
the director of Voices against violence once said. . . everything we know., . A defense
objection to this argument was sustained. The prosecutor continued, “E?zfeddhing we
know about domestic violence is that it is about power and controlling people.” 8/31/10
TT 181, o

it is improper for the State to rely on:psychological syndromes, effects of
dynamics of abuse or domestic violence because there is no avideme' which is
admissible for the purpose of showing that (Keefe had the character traits of an abuser
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or that Whitrrarshy had-the- character-traits of & victim—NRS48:06 1-specificatly prohibitg————

the use of such evidence against an accused to prove the basis of the charge.. Thaf

statute provides:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, evidence of domestic
violence and expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic violence,
including, without limitation, the effect of physical, emotional or mental
abuse, on the beliefs, behavior and perception of the alleged victim of the
dornestic violence that is offered by the prosecution or defense is
admissible in a criminal proceeding for any relevant purposs, mclud;ag,
without limitation, when determining:

(a) Whether a defendant is excepted from criminal liability pﬁfsuant to |
subsection 7 of NRS 194.010, to show the state of mind of the defendant

{b)} Whether a defendant in accordance with NRS 200.200 has kllled
another in self-defense, toward the establishment of the legal defense.

2. Expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic violence may not ba
offered against a defendant pursuant to subsection 1 to prove the <
occurrance of an act which forms the basis of a criminal charge agamst -

the defendant.

3. As used in this section, "domestic violence” means the commissioa_ of
any act described in NRS 33.018.
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(Emphasis added.) Subsection 2 above makes it clear that the State’s reliance on th
dynamics of abusive relationships to prove its case is improper. Additionally, it Ej
misconduct for a prosecutor to appeal to the conscious of the cnmmunity or societal
concems because the jurors’ only proper focus should be on whether the St‘_afe has
proved its charge. See Afkins v. State, 112 Név, 1122, 1138-39, 923 P.2d 11?9 {1996)
{Rose, J., concurring), overruled on other grounds by Berjano v, State, 122 Nev. 1066,
1076, 146 P.3d 265 (2006), |

The arguments above and similar arguments by the State must be préciﬂdad‘
They are improper and violate O'Keefe's constitutional right to a fair trial. These types
of arguments rely not upon actual admissible evidence, but upon prejudices that the
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jurors-may-have-about-men whobeat- women—Here,thepriorfefony convictionwas

only first admitted for the purpose of proving, in combination with Morris’s claims, that
O'Keefe had a motive to kill Whitmarsh, As this is now a second degree murder, the
evidence could only be relevant to show intent/malice. However, the improper
comments and arguments, which seek to convince the jurors that O'Keefe of Whitmarsh
acted in conformity with a character traits of a person in an abusive relatio'nsh'ip', tip the
previous balancing determinations made by this Court, making  overwhelmingiy
prejudicial the admission éf the prior judgment of conviction evidence 'aﬁdﬁMerﬁs’s.
testimony regarding other bad acts and O'Keefe's alleged skill at killing with\k’ﬁi\keé;
The State also made reference to Whitmarsh’s bruising in various stages o
healing and argued that this indicated that she “had been roughly handled in an éngd_ing
bashing.” B8/31/10 TT at 185. This is clearly improper bad acts eVidencﬁe:aﬁé IS
especially prejudicial in light of the fact that the defense had been fimit&d'ﬁem
introducing evidence from its witnesses to show that O'Kesfe and Whitmarsh had 4
foving relationship in the days and weeks before the incident at issue. There was nol
evidence to support any claim of domestic violence in the days and weeks before the
incident, and the evidence at trial clearly showed that Whitmarsh's physiéai and?fion,

combined with alcohol abuse provided an innocent explanation for any he‘ai’ir;gbréiisées.
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The State should be precluded from making such improper and unsupmﬁéﬁ ,claimls in

the upcoming trial.

5. This Court should preclude the State from inquiring about Q’Keefg’g 2005

convictions for non-support of his children. as these do not Mlifv for
admission under NRS §0.095.

Evidence of O'Keefe's prior cen\%ictions for non-support is not admissible for
impeachment purposes. Although this issue was overiooked by counsel during

O’Keefe’s first triai, and the evidence was admitted by the defense, O‘Keafé"l'aises if
here to avoid any reliance by the State upon the prior defense miscalculation,

NRS 50.095(1) provides: “For the purpose of aftacking the credibility of a
witness, evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime is admisé;%bie but only,
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if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment for more than 1 year under the
law under which the witness was convicted.” O'Keefe's 2005 convictions for'twb counts|
of non-support in Ohio resulted from no contest pleas under Chio Revised Code Section
2019.21(A}(2) and (G){(1), which provided for a maximum penalty of one year
imprisonment. See Exh. E (Attached). O’Kesfe was actually sentenced o nine (9)
months on each count. "Id_. Therefore, these convictions are not adﬁiiﬁéib!e fon
impeachment in Nevada. | N
CONCLUSION : o

Based on the foregoing, Brian O'Keefe moves this Honorable Court for rufings
preciuding the State from introducing the above-mentioned improper avié&hce and
argument and requiring the State to caution its witnesses regarding the same

DATED this 1% day of January, 2011. _
PALM LAWFIRM, LTD.

Pétﬁ{:la Palm, Bar No. 6009
1212 Casino Center Bivd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Phone: (702) 386-9113
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, MONDAY, MARCH 16, 2009, 9:26 A.M.
(Court called to order) B
{Outside the presence of the jury) 7
THE COURT: All right, this is C-250630, State. of
Nevada versus Brian O'Keefe. Ig it O'Keefe or OgKeefe?r
THE DEFENDANT: O'Keefe, sir. |
THE COURT: O'Keefe, all right. Mr. Pike, hégfi'
attorney, Mr., Smith and Ms. Graham for the State; T&éJStéte*s

motion to admit evidence of other crimes.
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MR. SMITH: And Judge, I'm paying attenti$ﬁ~t§ §§u,

THE COURT: All right, Proceed. Proceed, L

MR. SMITH: Judge, it's the State's positioa~that the
testimony of Cheryl Morris at the preliminary hearing éléa;§y‘
establishes at that the defendant had a motive to kiillﬁé;
Witmarsh (phonetic) and that the ﬁ&féndant relayed to é&er?l '
Morris that he had a deep seeded animosity towaréaﬁggfwiﬁhaxsh
for testifying against him at a previous battery domésfic

violence trial.

Our proffer would be that we intend tovéagl a
detective who would be able to testify that he thaiﬁ#é‘{%:h
certified copies of the Judgment of Conviction frqm tﬁééigf'v
domestic violence charge showing that he was, in féct-_?,jy.

convicted,

Also, he would be able to testify that he persenally

determined the length of his prison sentence because, as I

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC - 303-798-0890 . - 002263



stated in my motion, the defendant specifically stéted to

Cheryl Morris that Ms. Witmarsh had taken away threé'yEaré his

life,

S0 we would -- we would put the detective on to say
that he did investigation into the defendant's criminal records
at the Nevada Department of Correctiong and it did,_iﬁ f§c§f

reveal that he spent three years in prison.

S0 the State submits that we have certainly_het the

burden that it has probative value, especially because this is

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

an open murder charge. To support a conviction of‘fifét:éégfee
murder the State has to show deliberation and premediﬁation and
intent.

And with the defendant making statemeﬁts thét;hé
specifically wanted to "kill the bitch" because she haé{:fi
testified against him, T submit that this is clearly a‘métive
evidence contemplated by NRS 48.045.

That being said, it's the Btate's position tha;jfour
Honor has to weigh the probative value versus the prejudibﬁal
value. I gubmit that it is certainly more probafiveithan :
prejudicial because it cleaély gstablishes mctivé;'?hé‘éiage
is not going to make any argument that he's ﬁeceséééiifigibéd
guy because of that. It's simply one part of the éntirg?étéfy
of this case, and I submit that it should certainly Séﬁadﬁittad
into evidence. SR

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Pike?
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MR. PIKE: Thank you, your Honor. Forjthé %ééofa; in
anticipation of this -- this issue coming in, we conﬁuéted a
thorough cross-examination of Cheryl Morris at the time of the
preliminary ﬁearing go that there would be a record and you
could actually read the full transcript as to what she was
going to say. That's the reason we don't have tb aﬁtgéiiy'have
witnesses called in at this point in time because th§:¥~laslyou
can see from the documents that have heen filed, this'islﬁat a

case that has a great deal of varied igsues in it, wéﬁzd,ﬁsiCE
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ave developsd 3 mumber of Them

In relationship to this one, this -- yﬁu'rel&ééling
with Cheryl Morris. Cheryl Morris is a girlfriend of ihé'f
defendant that was an interim girlfriend aftex he'hadzébtten
out of prison, and they had established a relationship. Cﬁeryl
and Mr. O'Keefe, in fact, had resided together, éeée?béyffienﬁ
and girlfriend, they had shared a joint account, the?jﬁcﬁéht a
car together, they had done a number of things liké't§a£. ‘And
she is a jilted girlfriend in that as soon as the deceased in
this, Victoria Witmarsh re-contacted Mr. O’Keefe:ae.and;ﬁé»did
not contact her. He did not seek her out. He did;notigﬂﬁgmgt
to reestablish the relationships after this. o

But he -- Mrs. Witmarsh contacted him. The?zillﬁ
reestablished a relationship. If -- if this had any'ﬁfbﬁéﬁi?e
value it would be in a case where the issue of the"idéﬁﬁtl;y qu

an individual who had killed Mrs. Witmarsh may be=at73§égé3;‘
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This 1s -- this is a couple that had reestablished ﬁheﬁéélves.
They'd been wvery public about their reuniting. He'¥4 Mr;r
O'Keefe had taken her to the unicn hall where they had worked
together. They were a couple to the neighbors a#ounﬁ %hé'.
apartment where they had been. They were -- had gone iﬂto a --
my client was involved in a rehab program through tﬁe‘upian at
MINDSE. So he had gone forward in relationship to th&m.n
appearing together, and Mrs, Witmarsh had appearéd'witﬁ-himi

during that period of time.
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There is a reason why hearsay statements are -
considered as inherently unreliable unless they meet ¢efﬁain
criteria. And this is ;ertainly cne, because it is not’;? the
issue is not whether this was a planned homicide or'aﬁiéhing
like that. |

In fact, given the alcochol -- the obviéua
intoxication of Mr. Q'Keefe at the time, the intogicaﬁibn;and
drug -- and overdosage not to the extent of death, but.a high
amount of an anti-depressant along with the .24 alccﬁ61_iévél
in.the deceased as a result of the autopsy. It appéarsuﬁhgt
these two were -- were not anywhere near their ngrmaljétégé of
mind during that period.

So for a jilted girlfriend to come in an§ s$§fﬁ%:tS1é
me that he was -- you know, he would kill her because of'ﬁhis,
I think is far more prejudicial than probative beca@éé.shé has

her own motives for doing that.
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THE COURT: Well doesn't this -- the State'él.
pregsented it asg motive -- purpose of motive or intent of your
client. Doesn’'t it relate to that? Because I ﬁhink.rh'if:the
court or if the jury and the court believes the former
girlfriend and she had said that the defense -- and I'm ~-- she
took, you know, three years out of my life and he's th éaax to
grind, isn't that relevant to motive and intent? B

MR. PIKE: It would be if this was -- a?p@aréd”te‘be

a premeditated type of criminal offense where he-was tryiﬁg to

10
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|"hide from police, or establish an alibi or do anythlng at ail

like that. In circumstances where we have two drunk pecple
involved in it, I just don't -- I don't see where it meets that
probative versus prejudicial test. | |

THE COURT: All right. Anything further, Mr.fé&ith?

MR. SMITH: Judge, my reply would be Mr. Pike has
raised some issues that are right for crosswexaminatioﬁfwh@ﬁ
Ms. Morris gets on the stand. But the point here ig if the
State made a prima facie showing that it deces have Qrobative
value and that it outweighs the prejudicial value, and’; ?ﬁiﬁk
it does. A

Surely there are several interpretations a@‘ﬁdjﬁhaﬁ
the evidence is going to show in this case, but the'Stéte iél

entitled to a little deference if we can show that our theory

of the case supports the probative value of that test;mony, and

it, in fact, does.
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Furthermore, the fact that he -- the ﬁéfeﬁdéﬁtidiﬁn’t
try and establish an alibi or anything of that ﬁatur¢5 i‘méaﬁ,
we hear that premeditation can be as quickly as Succegsévéj
thoughts of mind. And I'm sure your Honor can think of';
theory that State could put forward that uses testimony of Ms.
Morris, despite the fact that the defendant did hot gi?é §n{
alikil or didn't do any of the things that Mr. Fike puﬁ f6rQ&rd
that one would normally expect in a case of premedit%fioﬁ'ah§

deliberation. I submit that we've met our burden‘and“it'should

TET
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come in.,
THE COURT: Anything further, Mr. Pike?
MR. PIKE: HNo, your Honor.
THE COURT: Mr. Pike, were you the &eféﬁséjatto&%&y?
Did you cross-examine this witness at thé lower stﬁgé? )
MR. PIKE: Yeg, I was, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.
BRI

MR. PIKE: The - in --

THE COURT: She made these statements, dbrfeéﬁ;7dnder

cath?

MR. PIKE: Pardon?

THE COURT: She made these statements?

MR. PIKE: 8he did make those --

THE COURT: She relayed the -- right.

MR, PIKE: -~ statements under oath anélthgylﬁérg
subject to cross-examination. The -- the statement ébéutf‘
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taking three years out of his life, Mr. G'Keefe,spEQtibééicaily
a year in custedy in Clark County Detention Centex.'.ﬁﬁ%ie that
was pending Ms. -- Mrs. Witmarsh visited him in -- in:jéii;‘
also in prison and then reconnected with him afterwards.

They -- their relationship really didn’'t end_ier a
period of three years. 8o if the court is going ts'aii§# it
in, then I}m going to have to have kind of a wide range on the
investigation of the detective in relationship ts viéitation

logs, Mre. Witmarsh's contact with him. It does present a -- a

3
11
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1Bbit of the Gordian knot or a messy situation as far as.

examination. And I don't think it's -- it's so -- it's zo
insightful that it would -- it becomes a -- a hot goker'qi
probative value for the State, | o
THE COURT: All right. I think the prior acpéfhere
and the statements are relevant to the charge. With:tgégg‘
testimony under ocath they've been proven by cleat:gndlf;;fff
convincing evidence. 2And Mr. Pike, I do find that the :’;
probative value 1s not substantially outweighed by-thé‘} :'
prejudicial effect of this, so I'm going to allow that";‘
testimony teo come in. And we start in 20 minutes; ié‘tﬁéﬁs‘
correct? o
MR. PIKE: That's correct, your Honor. In
relationship to this, we've got -~ if we could go ahead and

take some time and take care of some housekeeping matters for

the trial.
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As the court has seen, we have exchanged éuf p;5posed
jury instructions. I filed a hazrd copy, or prcvidéé;é'ﬁaﬁd
copy to .the clerk, In addition to that, the docﬁmenﬁéyi&s part
of the reciprocal discovery that I provided to counSel,ﬁIf?e
made a -- a list of exhibits and have provided those to the
clerk also.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. PIKE: In anticipation in this case, it”m;*the

trial may go where Mr. O'Keefe may decide to testify or not
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téstify. 1In the event that he does elect to testify, we 4o

have some issues in relationship to a prior conviction of a
burglary in which the charging documents indicated the burglary
was for purposes of a sexual assault. The sexual assault was
found to be -- there was insufficient evidence to suppé?t the
sexual assault allegations. And at that offense(‘hé wﬁs!jpst‘
convicted of a bhurglary and a misdemeanor battery,f';i"}l¢

If he takes the stand, we will go ahead aﬁd;pEQQiéw
the conviction for the burglary and the battery. ﬁlthépégg.if
-- since the court has issued the ruling that -- that;bafgef?'s
probably going to come forward.

I'm going to regquest that before the Stétélgé éii@wed
te further impeach in relationship to the bsrglary;,thétj{{z
because we will establish that within the ten year tim& périﬁd
and since we will establish it, that there really'is‘ﬁchiﬁg%to

impeach. #And if there is any portion of the sexual assauiﬁf'
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that comes in in relationship to that, of which‘he §$$¥3,44
acquitted, then we'd be bringing a motion for a miéﬁrié;x‘
And I don't anticipate the State's geing té‘dérthat.
I'm just -- I'm just telling you there's some - théré?g é
couple hot issues that you need to be aware of that are in the

MR, SMITH: There are scome land mines -~

MR. PIKE: -~ past.

MR. SMITH: -~ im this case,

12

11

13
14
15
1ls
17
i8
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

"MR. PIKE: There are.

SMITH: There are plenty of land mines.

2

MR. PIKE: And there --

THE COURT: You're not going to do that, Mr. Smith,
are you? T

MR. SMITH: I'm not geing to go into tﬁ& séﬁﬁ$l 
assault. Judge, I'm going to keep my imyeachment,‘ifuﬁéiﬁ
testifies with regards to his prior felonies, as.saniﬁér?ﬁas
possible. When were you convicted, what jurisdictioﬁiéﬁﬁﬁwhat
was the corime, that's it. Even with the DV third!’ L

THE COURT: All right. That's all yeu}réxéiié?éﬁ to
do, o

MR. SMITH: The only details, Judge =-- I'ﬁ s&éxy, I
just want to make sure -- o

MR. PIKE: That's okay. No, no, this is’whéff§fj

MR. SMITH: -~ Randy knows.
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MR, PIKE: -- it's for.

MR. SMITH: The only detail I'm going to go iﬁto with
regards to the prior DV cbviously is who the witness &ésathat
testified against him, because that -- I mean, that kind of -
comes in. But other than that, the other comvictions I'm going
to stay away from them with the exception of whag}s aiiq?ad by

law.

THE COURT: Can you make sure your witness doesn't

blurt something out?

sl
Law3:
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" MR. SMITH: And I certainly won't bait him.

MR, PIKE: And then in relationship --

THE COURT: You know, we had a migtrial -~

MR. PIKE: Yeah.

MR. SMITH: Right.

THE COURT: -- in the next department firétlﬁithess.

MR, SMITH: First witness. Well, we &$n't:§ﬁ§;¢ib§te
that happening heie. o

MR, PIKE: We don't. We -- and in relaticonship to
the -- the other issues, there are some prior, of'cdu;éegﬂ'
because it is8 a -- was a third offense domestic véofeﬁ%é}ithére
were two prior misdemeanor convictions for battery domégiic
viclence. I guess, we're just going to have to kind 6f=d§él
with those if Mr. O'Keefe takes the stand in relationshié té‘
whether they're going to bring them in as other béd[aC;Sinif
they're just going to stick te the felonies, then we w§5{£, but
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I don't --

MR. SMITH: And again, I'm not going to ask théz
defendant about any of his priors, with the exception of ones
that are -- have already been deemed admitted. But, ofkcaurse,
the State reserves his right to crogs-examine him if were the
defendant tec open the door, as it were, to any -- any aﬁéé he
may have allegedly committed against Mrs. Witmarsh, | |

MR. PIKE: That's correct, and we have -- and may the
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TTHE COURT: I'm sure you've counseled your “eTient

carefully. |

MR, PIKE: We have. If fact, Ms. Palm is préséﬁt
here. In going ﬁhrough this, we've indicated to’M;{ é{?éeié‘
that those misdeheanors may not be used as impeachmént'ff v
materials unless he opens the door by indicating that.théfé wasg
never any problems him and Mrs. Witmarsh, or we're t?yiné'to
just stick to prospective Lee from when they'reunitgd gftéx he
got out of prison this time, which -- and I think If;géjbép‘
sugcessfully do that, then we're not going to have ah é%ége
with the prior DVs except for the -- the one fei#ny aé'ﬁéfiﬁe,

And if during cross-examination there's anythiﬁg",
that's blurted ocut or Mr. O'Keefe elects to t;alk_ab;)&faﬁthé‘tr
then it kind of -- it opens the docor for State. S&f%s tﬁé§;re
being careful with their witnesses, Mr. G’Keefe,if.hg'ilupéy
attention right now during trial then he’'ll unéerstanéx:ﬁé‘§;
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the potential land mines or doors that he will open.

THE COURT: Mr. O'Keefe, do you understand wéétiyour

attorney just stated?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor, I do.

THE COURT: (kay, because if you blurt something out
or you don't listen to the question carefully and answe% |
something that's not being asked, you may open the déor,_and
it's going to -- perhaps the other domestic violence is&ﬁée

will come in, and I'm sure that will adversely impact your

il
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case.

MR. PiKgx And the cne other ~-

THE COURT: Do you understand that, sir? ;

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, your Hongr,u

THE COURT: All right.

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Ckay.

THE DEFENDANT: I do have something I'd 1ik&'£ﬁ. 
mention, if I may. |

THE., COURT: Well, why don't you talk to'MrL ﬁikevl
first see if you want to advise the court of it.- o

MR. PIKE: 1In relationship to -- again,‘back iOEF
Cheryl Morris. Now, there are two aspects of the-testiﬁgﬁy,
and I didn't cover one of it. The Court’'s ruled on thevéépéct‘

in relationship to the mow testify.

The other is the means. As the transcripﬁ'inéiégted,
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we went through and because she was saying that he Qbuidf€;
that Mr. O'Keefe said that he would threaten her or.ééﬁld)kill
her, she demonstrated that he would stab her with a knifé, or
he said that he would stab her with a knife in the stérnu&é the
center of the sternum which I'm pointing at right now for the
record and which she pointed to at the time of the preliminary
hearing. L

In fact, the -- the death producing woﬁndiéiuﬁééf

the armpit forward with the -- the blade facing back towards

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

”Eﬁe'babk; thémcuttiﬁéM;aggwféaiﬁgwﬁébkWtowards théfjfﬂggwgiéﬁu

is dissimilar enough that I -- I think that that pnrfioﬁbﬁf-the
testimony is not -- is not probative and certainiy is
prejudicial if it's says he's going to do it with a kni§é aﬁd
then pointing to a specific area that is, given the éiéééf.the
victim in this case, is probably no more than a foof AQayﬂf

MS. PALM: And your Honor, if I could just_éiériﬁy
that for a second because her -- she made statemﬂntS'ﬁhaﬁﬁbé
had told her and demonstrated to her how he would ki11'§écéle
with a knife. That, I think, is completely irrelevant aﬁd §ad
nothing to do with Victoria Witmarsh., She never said‘ihéﬁ;he.
was going to do that exactly to Victoria Witmarsh. Jﬁétfﬁﬁé%
she had said he said he was going to kill Victoria ﬁitﬁ&rsh;

Those are two separate things.

So in reference to him demonstrating how he %cuia

kill people with the knife, we would ask that they caﬁtiéhfher

1002275
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not to go into that because that hasn't been noticed éS'ﬁ:bad
act, as well as any prior domestic violence against har:has
also not been noticed. | "

MR. PIKE: We've done that.

MS. PALM: Okay.

MR. PIKE: Yeah.

MS. PALM: Sorry, I was late to the gaﬁé.

MR. SMITH: Judge -- Judge, the defemdant'sﬁstaging

to another person that he has the ability to kill somebody in a
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specified means ig not a bad act, It's not a crime tm say -
for instance, if I'm a sniper and I'm in the Karln&‘corp}{ and
I tell one of my friends, "You know, I'm really good ?itﬁ a 30
odd & Erom 500 yards,® it's not a crime. O

But then if I go ahead and use -- and hillgsoﬁéﬁééy
with that same means, certainly the Government in prqsécﬁﬁing
me should be able to use evidence that I indicated,ﬁgafl;ibgve
a proficiency at killing somebody in that manner. That‘§ not a
bad act, and that's our position. That's why we didﬁ‘t‘filﬁ
the motion -- we didn't file a motion sayving, you know we |
should be able to get in that the defendant or stated to Ms
Morris that he has a proficiency with knives and can use: them
That's not a bad act.

THE COURT: I'm not interpreting it as a baé'agt{ 80

MR. SMITH: And so Ms. Morris should certainly %&:'
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allowed to testify to that,
THE COURT: I'm going -- she will be ail&wéd;tc<
testify to that. ‘
MR. SMITH: Thank vou,
THE COURT: Anything else, Mr. Pike?
MR. PIKE: No, your Honor.
THE COURT: Ms. Palm? Anything else, Mr. Smi&ﬁ?
MR. SMITH: We have one thing, Judge. One of.§ur

officers, Christopher Hutcherson, when he arrived atﬂﬁﬁe scéne,
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the defendant made soﬁémépontaneoas statements Spec1fzca}ly

the one that we want to address is one where the defendamt
allegedly stated to Officer Hutcherson, "Let's go, let*Sido the
ten years." B

It's the State's position that that's a staté%ent
showing a consciousness of guilt., Now, I know it’ s klnd cf a
double whammy in that the defendant is saying "let's da the ten
vears", which if it comes out in that fashion, the jury wopld'
then be given evidence regarding sentencing. e

So what the State wanted to suggest w:th the defense
counsel's agreement, and with your Honor ewven rullng that lt‘
admissible, is that Officer Hutcherson be allowed to say .
something to the effect that the defendant stated, “Let*s go,
let's do the prison time," or "Let's go, let's do 3@me§hzng»

LT

like that."

But to sanitize it where he doesn't say the’qﬁéntity
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PALM LAW FIRM, LTD.
PATRICIA PALM, ESQ.
NEVADA BAR NO. 6009

1212 CASINO CENTER BLVD,

LAS VEGAS, NV 89104 o FILED

choe ot .
Emaf Patricia. palmlaw@amail.com JUL 21

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

| Attorney for Brian O'Keefs . %

, || STATE OF NEVADA, CASE NO: C250830
. Plaintiff, DEPT NO. XVII
. vS. | DATE: /?Z/tﬁ 3 =‘2{,7/’ O
~ I'BRIAN K. O'KEEFE, = § TIME:
22 e a3
Deferdant,
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NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTICN BY DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE]

STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER-ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE
AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL OR WOULE V OLATE
HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

COMES NCW Defendant, Brian K. O'Keefs, by and through his aﬁoméy,x Fétﬁciq

Palm of Palm Law Firm, Ltd., and hereby moves this Honorable Court for a"nbr(fer
precluding the State from introducing other act or character ewc‘ance and other
evidence which is unfairly prejudicial or would violate his constitutional rights.

This Motion is mads and based upon the record in this case, zncludmg the gaperss

and pleadings on file herein, the Constitutions of the United States and the State of

il
i
i
H
i

P79

002
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Nevada, the peints and authorities set forth below, and any argument of counsel at thel

time of the hearing on this Motion,

Dated this 21st day of July, 2010.
PALM LAW FIRM, LTD..

7

Patricia Palm, Bar No. 8009
1212 Casino Center Bivd.

Las Vegas, NV 89104

Phone: (702) 386-8113

Fax: (702) 366-9114

Attorney for Defendant O’ Kaefe
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21

28

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff, and

TC. DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff ) ,
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will brihg o%’i the above

and foregoing MOTION BY DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE T‘HE";‘:‘}TATE

FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND

'OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH 1S UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD VIOLATE His!

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS on the j day of _@ 2010 at the houz' of
j / A.m., in Department No. XVIi of the above-entitied Court, or as s00n thareafter as

counsel may be heard.

Y o
DATED this o¢/ day of July, 2010.
PALM LAW FIRM, LTD,

&evada Bar No. 5009
1212 Casino Center Bivd.
Las Vegas, NV 88104
702) 386-9113
ttorney for Defendant O'Keefe
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Reversal and Remand {April 7, 2010). The Court further slated, "}'ha ﬂfﬁmct;aourt’j

emor in giving this instruction was not ham&iass because # is not c!

tumultuous relationship.  3/19/09 TT 186-80. In 2004, GKeefe was,, : .

!
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|| burglary for entering into the couple’s jomt dweﬁ;ng v«}lth the intent to contm’:t s:rimel

1/decided to resume her relationship with O'Keefe. " The two of them appaa

against Whitmarsh. Q‘Keefe was senfenced to probation, but his prob

When O'Keefe was released from prison. in 2007, he g&e’i’ aﬁan
retaticnshlp with Cheryl Mormis. 3/17/09 TT 10, 3/19/09 TT 189. He wculd bﬁ’ "ra:%-;ioea

he said he wanted to “kill the bitch.” 3/17/09 TT 14-17. Morris testlﬁed ’(h
at one point to be with Whitmarsh, and then tefaphaned Morris, askmg h
of their jointly shared apartment so Whitmarsh could move in. 3/1 ?fﬁs’ ,
testified that Whitmarsh got on the phone with her dssnng that call and: taf

loving couple and were open about their relationship, 3/16/09 TT 259 3!1 gfe

21, 30-36.
At about -10:00 p.m. on the evening of the incident, in Novem“'

neighbor who lived in the apartment below O’Keefe and Whltmarsb heard




the door to O’'Keefs's apartment open id. at 206-209. He yeiied insu
oowpants attention, at which time O’Keefe came out of the bedroom a

Toifver to “come get herl” Id, at 209-10. When Toliver entered the bed

ﬁght with him. ld at 224 Tekwer Ieﬁ the apartment mmediately and sh ad at

1.

17
19
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

27

28

Armbruster, another neighbor, back upsta;rs ld. at 214, OKeefe was

TT 215, 3!1 7/089 TT 85, When they entered the bedmm they found Whitm
the floor next to the bed and an unarmed O'Keefe cradling her in his armsf

O'Keefe to let go of her, but he refused. Id. at 51-52, 60-61, s?,»;; Th

stabbed herself and he also said that she tried to stab him. 3f1??09
They arrested him and brought him to the homicide offices. 31“}?
Subseqsent to his arrﬁssi O'Keefs gave a rambling statement mdmtin:

1:20 a.m., at which time he was crying, ralsing his voica, talking o hlmsei i

Detective Wildemann stated that during the interview O'Keefe smeiieﬂ
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3 lithat O’Keefs had been drinking, however, law enforcement did not :abtal
+ || breath or blood alcohol level either before or after the interview. 1 '

Whitmarsh had about thres times the target dosage of Effexor in her syéte

e

11 ||TT 84-86. The combination of Effexor and alcohol could have caasj‘

22 (|at 190. It was Whitmarsh who called O'Keefe and initiated their renewed A
23 ||1d. at 181. He was aware that Whitmarsh had Hepatitis C when she

24' apartmenf Id. at 197-98. In November, 2008, Whitmarsh was stressed by

b
2

2

28
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about a lot of things. Id. He grabbed the kmfe she yanked it and cut h[s

ld at 37. He tried to stOp the bleedlng and pamcked id. at 39 He tne"

he should not have done so. Id, at 48.

ARGUMENT
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Moreover, NRS 48.035 provides in part that:

1. AithOUﬁﬁ relevant, evidence is not admissible if its pmbatzva valy
substantially outwaghed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of ﬁz:snfus )

3l
i2
i3

4

1% 4

ig
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18

19

20

31

22
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24

2%

26

27

8

_ tha issues or ofm i&adlng the jury. T

2. Although relevent, ewdence may be excluded I its mbatwe value i
substantially outwezghed considerations of undue delay, wastejé ¥ im
or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. . :

Additionally, “[a]bseht certain exceptions, evidence of a persigé s:

conformity therewith on g particular occasion. Further, evidenca af’e

wrongs or acts is not admissibie to prove the character of a person in ord,

he acted in conformity therewith.” Taylor v. State, 108 Nev. 849, 853 ‘ss' X
846 (1993). If the State wishes to prove that character -or othsr act evzdenee :s,

admissible under NRS 48.045(2), for the purpose of establishing- proof
QPQMU”IW. intert, preparation, plan, knovﬁedge identity, or absenca vf Foistake
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,,,,,

introduced because it was not in rebuital to a dsfense made by thei’fja'""" {;:!fing

NRS 48.045(1)(a)}.

“Before an issue can be said to be raised, which wouid: p‘e.
infroduction of such evidence so obviously pre;udzc al to the. acclst
must have been raised in substance If not in so many words;" aaei
issue so raised must be one to which the prejudicia evidence ig* ré!evan
The mere theory that a plea of not guiity puts everything materia!‘in issue
" is not enough for this purpose. The prosecution cannot credit the accuse
with fancy defenses in order to rebut them at the outset \mth;'ﬁ” T

damning piece of prejudica.”

ng r, 114 Nev. at 854, 856 P.2d at 846 (quotmg McCormick on Ev;dence i 99' at- 4’52

11

12

13

o

15

16

17

i3

ig

20

2l

22

23

24

4]

26

27

28

against vague and unsubstantiated charges. It may improperly lnﬂuencel g ﬁ.sra?, and

prejudice.” Bg_eve 114 Nev. at 872, 963 P.2d at 505-06 (c iting Tln"”""" :

its probative value is substantially outwsighed by the danger of unfa:r prejudicga J__i at

872, 963 P.2d at 505-086 (citing ngh 113 Nev, at 1176, 846 P.2d at ?084-65
The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that the use of characte *@idgnca tc, :

convict a defendant Is extremsly disfavored in our criminal Justm sys!am uch

gvidence is likely to be prejudicial and imelevant and forces the accus

result in the accused's conviction because the jury believes he Is a bad perso ’T:he usq-
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695, 696-97, 765 P.2d 1144, 1145-48 (1988)).

Ar "
O'Keefe had clalmed to Cheryl Morris

had demonstrated how he would kill with knives.

The State should be precluded from Introducing evlda‘n;ié‘

31

iz

13

14

18

18

17

18

18

20

21

22
23
24
28

28

27

28

an

i

hold me as .

sternum area. & at1 7—18

protect O’Kéefs‘s bmstitut%cnal right to a fair trial,

Whether this evidenoe is treated as other bad act.evidence or ﬁo -
d unfairly prejudicial. The alleged victim In thls case was Killed by a'

10

e _could kill anyone wit 1 3

. amm’s length and say he would come at me or cou!d come gerson :

142288
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sentence.

During the prior trigl, the parties agreed that when the State iﬁt&tg}‘du
case-in-chief the copy of a certified Judgment of Conviction to show the fefény dcmastlc
battery in C207835, the reference to a concurrent sentence would be reda' ed *3;‘?8!09

TT 122. Because of the ifreievant and prejudrclaf nature of this ewdenea arftd ‘em’af an

11

12

13

14

18

le

17

18

38

20

21

2

23

24

25

28

27

28

3/16/09 TT 10.

pre}udncxal nature of term “sexual assault’, O'Keefe requests a ruilngipre@;bifmg.thﬁ
State from introducing or usmg such terms during the retrial. ' :
i

i

il

i

Because of the irrelevant and extrome pm;udiciﬁ nafure éf‘ithis:

002289
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During the pﬂor trial, the State introduced numerous photegraphs,
3]16!09 1T 267-68, 3!18!

Whitmarsh's body over defense objection.

pefsen 3/18/08 TT 98~100

11y

12
13
14
15
1§
17

18

reason as o why it believed the test imony to be relevant:

On appeal O'Keele chanenged the distnct oourt's ruimg Y'pe ! 1
introduction of these photographs. However, having reversed on the ji.:; ic
issue, the Supreme Court declined to address O'Keafe's remaining i zssues

ghy'wﬁﬂu

between the bruises and the evems at issue here, and their h
inflammatory nature, this evidence should be excluded during the ratrial,.

002290

12
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The intent and state of mind of the defendant before, during and afgﬁ}‘ ftang

murder, the stabbing of Victoria, is very important to this case “The,
that he's angry, mean, violent, and Is spewing racial slurs is in the Stata
opinion proba ive and refevam to the case. S

3/18/09 TT 2-8.
O'Keefe raised the Issue of the improper introduction of this ev!dence b «apgzea!

11
12
13
14
15
15
17
18
13
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

TP A )

relevance to the issues of this case. Moreover, admission of this awdencé milﬁ

hatO’Ke fe ki

Dun’ng the testimony of Joyce Tolliver, she was-‘ permitted to te&iﬁ_

still under the stress of excitement. See State v. Rivera, 578 P. 2d 1 37&

13

+002291
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16

11

12

13

14

15

18

17

1&

19

20

2l

.22

X

24

.25

- 26

27

28

on the decsased could have been caused by an accident. Over an T(}b

scientist and crime scene reconstruction and he had previously testif ed ééz
wounds were defensive or accidental. The district court found that’ the "quasﬂe wasl ’

*002292
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qualified to make such an opinion, Hallmark v. Eldridge, 188 P.3d 646 (Navi, GG&)” and
he has been properly noticed as expert. To allow this otherwase usurps fha jurys

function and violates O'Keefe's constitutional nghts fo due process and a{ falr tnal , Tc:-

13

002293
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relva, 114 Nev. 100, 952 P.2d 431 (1998). Here, O'Kesfe shouid niot be furtheq
burdened by the violation of his rights during the previous trial, and to allow the fact of

the previous trial, conviction, or appeal into evidence would taint his right to a fa;r retnai

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Brian O'Keefe moves this Honorable Court far rulings
precluding the State from introducing improper evidence and argument as. s&t forth
above and requiring the State to caution its witnesses regarding the same.

DATED this 21st day of July, 2010, |

27

28

. }E d3 - - T T T - ‘PA'{:M‘@W‘F“W.:LTQ.‘ v it s e €% e wE T

12

13

14 -

s Pétricia Palm, Bar No, 6009 -
1212 Casino Center Bivd.

16 Las Vegas, NV 89104
Phone: (702) 386-8113

17 Fax: (702) 386-8114

18 ‘

12

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

4
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RECEIPT OF COPY o

|, the undersigned, acknowledge that on this Q {__ day of \T’L\Jv‘/\ |
2010, | received a true copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF MOTION AND MO‘I{ON BY
DEFENDANT O'KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT
TRIAL OTHER ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND OTHER ﬁVtDEﬂC‘é ‘WH!CH
IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS CONSTETQ’?TQXAL

RIGHTS.

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

I A o

11

12

12

14

15

16

17

19

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

P95
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FILED*

SR & 3

12

1 1|ORDR
2 || PATRICIA PALM E90 |
NEVADA BAR NO, 6009 - Y Bap 'I0
2 111212 CASINO CENTER BLVD. .
LAS VEGAS, NV 89104 Qe iop
¢ || Phone: (702) 386-9113 L R S
?QX, §?92) 3 6“9114 . UE-ET‘:J‘ X ToAE Ujpf
5 HEmall; P@tricia.gafmfaw@gmazi.c:am
; Attorney for Brian O'Keefe
DISTRICT COURT
7 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
8
) STATE OF NEVADA, CASE NO: C250630
Piaintiff, DEPT. NO: XVIi .
vs. S S
_____ B R e 1y 7\ 17 ;
BR!AN K. O KEEFE
TIME:
Defandant.

17

i8

19

2C

21

22

23

24

2%

v

28

ORDER GRANTING, IN PART, AND DENYING, IN PART, MOTION BY OEFENDANT
O'KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM SNTROD{JC!NG AT TRIAL OTHER
ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNFA!RLY
PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

This matter having come before the Court on August 17, 18 and 2{! 20‘%3 on
Notice of Motion and Motion by Defendant O'Keefe, to which an Opposition was f fi !ed bj
the State, and the Court having heard argument and been fully advised in the prem:ses
and good cause appearing therefore; I ;
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion is GRANTED, in part, and DENIED fq

part, as follows:
A, As fo the request to preciude the State from ‘ﬁtroduéing;

evidence showing that O'Keefs had claimed to Cheryl Morris that he couid kil
anyone with a knife and had demonstrated how he would kill with kmves The
Court finds that this evidence is relevant to the issues in the case. and that i
should be admitted; therefore, the Defendant's request is DENIED, |

1

- 002

297
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B. As to the request to limit the State to presenting the
Judgment of Conviction for felony domestic battery with the redaction té' omit
refarence to the concurrent sentence in another case, i.e., 02978353 the Court

finds such redaction appropriate; therefore, the Defendant's i'ret:,-waist 5

GRANTED. | o
C.  As to the Defendant’s request to preclude the Stata from

introducing any avidence of a sexual assault allegation related to Defe’ridént’s;
prior burglary conviction: the Court finds such preclusion appropriate; therefore,

the Defendant’s request is GRANTED.

D.  As to the Defendant's request that the State be M_'_;__m_, —

1.4
[ gy

12

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

from i ntroducmg “the term “Sexual Assault Kit" or making any. reference to any

kit as a “DNA collection kit."

sexual assault in the trial: the Court finds such preclusion warrantsd, therefore,
the Defendant's request is GRANTED, and the parties will instead ;éfereﬁéle' thel

E.  As fo the Defendant’s request that the State be pracluded
from introducing photographs of Victoria Whitmarsh's bruises: the ccurt ﬁnés thai
the evidence indicates that biunt force trauma, which is osnsmtaﬁt\dwﬂh._gelfw
defense or an attack, is relevant to the issues in the case; théféfb&é; the
Defendant’s request is DENIED. O

F.  As to the Defendant's request that the State be precluded
from introducing any evidence of racial slurs by Defendant: the court ﬁncjs such

preciusion is proper; therefore, the request is GRANTED, . ‘
G.  As to the Defendant's request that the State be precludad

from introducing the hearsay statement of Charles Toiliver *Baby, he.done killed
that girl™ the Court finds that such preclusion is warranted; therefore, tha
Defendant’s request is GRANTED and the State's will not introduée this h’ééfs}é%

statement,

2 o 002298
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H.  As to the Defendant’s request to preclude the Stéta:_;fmm
introducing through a homicide detsctive an expert opinion on the‘ néﬁ;rﬁ of
O'Keefe's wounds; the Court finds that the State has withdrawn. its“f*ef':w-esi {o
present the testimony as “expert® opinion, however, the opinion of the officer ij

appropriate as a lay opinion; therefors, the defendant's reguest to preclude th

opinion s DENIED. .
I As to the Defendant's request to preclude'thé Stete from

introducing evidence regarding the prior trial, conviction or appeal: the C‘eurt
finds that such preciusion is proper; therefore, the request is GRANTEIJ :

ok B ___ .

\» [ pem

R 11 AN

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

i1g

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

" IT IS SO ORDERED this 2 _day of mgust 2010,

MICHAEL P. VILLANI -

DISTRICT COURT JUﬁGE DR

Respectfu!ty submitied by:

ATRICIA A PALM
1212 Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 88104

(702) 386-9113

. ‘. 002

299
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n Ve
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15
16
- RECEIPT OF COPY S
5 RECEIPT OF COPY of Order Granting, in Part, and Denying in Part, Motion by
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IN THE COURT OF 5&9& fdas or FAIRFIELD COUNTY, OHIO = -

INOAR
W5 EAYA) AN 9 ) N COMPU
STATE OF OHIO, 347 b5 Yo i §. T YiER
2% Paros : !
Plaintiff, CLEM: # Fityg Case No. 04-CR-237
FAGIE o5 o rplip SETS 7006332188 '
va. # " JUDGE RICHARD E. BERENS -
BRIAN K. O'KEEFE, +  ENTRY OF SENTENCE
DOB: 3-14-63
SSN: 530-76-7555 *

Defendant. *

Date of Conviction: After Indictment filed Rugust &, 2004

“CEiminal Non-Support of ﬁupondenéa F5 - 2 Counts

¢ months in appropriate pﬁnai'inﬁtitutioﬁ"

gantencse
Coencurrent on each Count
Community Control Sanctions
Creadit for Pifty-Three (53) Days
Fine: -0~

oty

On. August 6, 2004, the Grand Jury met and issued a Two " r;;&antl‘;ﬁd'icf‘ment
charging the Defendant, Brian K, O’'Keefe, with Criminal ﬂon#sﬁpﬁof;' of a
Dependent on Two Counts, a violation of Ohio Revised Code Section 29;§.§i£$){23
and {3} {1), belng a felony of the Fifth Degree. . |

Or April 25, 2005, the Defendant entered a plea of *No Canté%ﬁwf£§ftﬁe Tw§
Count Indictment, o

on April 29, 2005, Jeffrey P. Bender, Special sassist#z{t-{é;égécﬁting
attorney, appeared on behalf of the State of Ohio, and the Dfeyfeﬁ&ér‘m;"éiian K.
appeared with his counssel, James A, FPislds. The Defendant advised the

O’ Keefe,

Court that he was entering a plea of "No Contest® to Count One and Count Two of

the Indictment,

Prior to the Court's acceptance of the Defendant's plea, -th§~ Court

pergonally addressed the Defendant and advised the Defendanta Qf;5&iiA‘the
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information and rights required by Rule 11 of the Ohio 'z'-zuleﬁl xo‘f V-Criminal
Procedure. The Defendant indicated to the Court that he understot:»;i t'faésa rightsg
and waived them orally and in writing =~ The Defendant further uét‘étaﬁ' on the
record that he ig a uitizen of the United States. ' |

The Court further advised the Defendant of the sentence 7t'hlati_} 7¢c:*4ui<i be
imposed upon him in the event of a conviction of the of fenses {to- i;hiqh‘ "he wag
pleading. The Court ad\}iﬁed the Defendant concerning his e'ligiﬁility fo“zﬂ'
community control sanctions. The Court further adviged the méfendanlt that

violations of any gommunity control sanction sentence coould lead to a ‘more

———regtrietive Rametion, ¥ IONget Banctiol, OFf a prison term,
The Defendant indicated to the Court that he understood these 4,rights and

waived them orally and in writing, After a Statement of Facts fro"m‘(ther Btate,
the Court then determined and found the Defendant, Brian K, é“Kee’fe. -"é}xiity to
Count One and Count Two as charged in the Indictment.

The Court continued with sentencing. The Defendant orally an%:i_ l»yi%i;x“-‘ys’eriting
waived a separate sentencing hearing. The Defendant's sentencf.#g&‘m;é k' held
pursuant to Chio Revised Code 25%29.19. Jeffrey P. Bender, Spéciaﬁl‘-ﬂ‘s&iétant
Preosecuting Attorney, and Attorney James A. Fields, counsel for "ﬁhel".iﬁéfezjdantg
were present, as was the Defendant, Brian K. O’Keefe, who was ‘,"a’ifvf'gi:déd all
rights, puresuant to Criminal Rule 32. The Court has considered t:‘hig"z"f;'gd;rd‘,, oral
statements, any victim impact statement, and presentence report ‘gz‘eé;ni::ei;ﬂ”‘-:’ég well
as the principles and purposes of sentencing under Ohioc Revised ‘{:‘ode ‘2:"92%.11 and
has balanced the seriousness and recidivism factors of Ohic Revised tf:o:.i:e‘.-'zgzé,lz.

The Court finds that the Defendant is CGuilty on Count One and t"'l'éu-nﬁ‘i’f‘wo of
the Indictment and the Defendant has been convicted of two Counts of Crizzinal

Non-Support of Dependents, a felony of the 5th degree, in viol&tioﬁ ‘:of Ohic

Revised Code 2919,21 (A} (2).
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The Court sentences the Defendant to nine (8) months on eabﬁ Count in the

appropriate penal inétituticn_;o~?§ gerved concurrent. The Court does not impose

¥,

a fine. Dpefendant shall pay cééts.' -

The Court finds that the minimum sentence is not adequate'iﬁ t§ia cage. The
Court finds that there was a continuous coursze of conduct over ?egrs.greatiné a
high child support arrears compared with the support oréer; ?ﬁxthérp-a winimum

sentence would not adeguately reflect the geriouaness of the Défendaﬁﬂ%\éonduct,

T

ve”"'féfiigining prison term is not

mandatory or necessefy at this time, and that community control sanctiéns are
i -

7 adeguate to punish the Defendant. Specifically, and as indicaﬁed‘ogitﬁé_reccrd,
the Court finds that:

1) Community control sanctions will adeguately punish’the-ngﬁéédgﬁt and
protect the public because the factors against recidivism oﬁﬁ%ﬁi?ﬁf‘those
indicating recidiviem; and .

2) Community control sanctions do not demean the seriauéﬁeéﬁjasﬁ the
cffense because the factors decreasing seriousness outweigh thos#tlincgéésing
geriocusness. | )'A‘“

Wherefore, the Court ORDERH that community control sanctions bekfﬁééééé:ffor
not more than five {8) years, subject to the supexvision of the Aéulilérpggyioh
Department under any terms and conditions that they deem ap@royriéﬁeﬁl?j:§h§
pefendant shall immediately report to the Adult Probation nepartmsnf any:iﬁiéﬁded

changes in address and/or employment. The Defendant shall abide_by‘aii‘iéws;

including, but neot limited to, the laws related to Efirearms and ‘dangefdﬁg;'
rdinances. The Defendant l1s allowed tc leave the State of Ohio to rat&rﬁ'té ﬁa§~

wgas, Nevada only, The Defendant hag pending matters in Las Vegas and thé‘Coﬁitf,

11 review tranasfer in one hundred twenty (120) days.
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The Court grants the Defendant fifty-—threej (53) days credit -_fo'r_ ﬁi&}é‘% perved
against Count One and Count nglgggpences. S

The Court further ORbKR;m£he‘De£&ndant to report to the-AddIt-probation
Department, as required by the Department, and pay any Eup&rvisic;n f’éea,‘ié&rsuant
to ORC Section 2329,18(A)(4). The Defendant shall pay the crfys’tsv'of’-' gms;acut;‘i:on
of this case as determined by the Fairfield County Clerk of Courts. - 'Judgm&nt is
hereby granted in favor of the State of Ohic against the Defer':dl‘x-tﬁl':‘fer said

costs, The Defendant’s bond shall be forfeited for costs and'any‘femainder to

the Defendant, Brian K. O'Keefe.

sanctions shall pay his child support as follows: as ordere;i in Domestic

Relationa Division of the Common Pleas Court, Case Mo, 92-DR-0367, shall maintain
regular payments of current and arrears until arrears are satisfied. Baid

payments shall continue 48 ordered unless modified by an Order~"éf' ﬁomﬁstic

Relations Court.

Coats to Defendant, Brian K. O'Keefe.

JUDGE RICHARD E BERENS

APPROVED BY: CLERK'S GElmFICATE DU
The Siela of Ohin, Falrfield County, ss: - .
y F. Bender N 0037109 1, the undersigned Glerk of Coutts of sald cnunty, he by terlibe
/égzﬁral Assist /grosecutlng Attorney that the foregeln ﬁatmemMcnmmtmnymih b .
Fairfield ty /CSEA . ) Geliled with mg ., SLL?;]M “
1”“ ‘E"“’:? my hand and nﬁ“cszi seal thi@ day anc.z neg
James A. Fields 0040350 .

Artorney for Defendant, Brilan K. O'Keefe
By o

" Clark of Courts,
..“*"Hégﬁjgﬁb
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IN THE COUR) of COMMDN PLEAS OF FAIRFIELD COunlY , DHID |

State of Ohio, ‘ ‘
COMMUNITY CONTROL.
Vs, STIFULAT}ONS AND AGREEMENTS
%@4(//4/ //f’&”’fﬁ - R o
Defendent CASENO. gy R L3%

It appears 10 the satisfaction of the Court that the character of the Defendant and the
circumstances of the case are such that the Defendant is not likely to engage in an offensive -
course of conduct, if he will conform to certain conditions set forth hereinafter, and the public -~
good does not demand or require that sald Defendant be immediately incarcerated; thereupon, the
exeeution of sentence upon said Defendant is hereby suspended and said Defendant isplacedon
community control for a period of 5 years if said Defendant agrees to accept the terms. Stt;mlat:o:;s
and agreements of said sanctions as stated hereinafter: .

1. You are not to leave the State of Ohio without the written consent of the Court, -

2. You are to notify the Court before you change your address.

3. You are to maintain reg\lla: employment. You are to furnish 2 good day's work for your |
employer. You are not to quit your job nor change your employment without the pnsr ‘
consultation with, and approval of, this Court. -

4, You are to support and care for yourself and all other persons for whose supporl: yfza "
are legally responsible.

5. You are to maintain good behavior, conduct yourself in a proper manner at aﬂ ttmas, b
and obey all laws of the state, laws of the United States and all local laws,

6. You are to be in your home by ten o'clock every night and are not to leave
before five o'clock in the morning unless your employment (as it appears in our m;orés)
requires it. (

7. You are not, without the consent of the Court, to associate with persons of bad
reputation, those with criminal records, or anyone on Probation or Parcle and you are notto
associate with any person or persons who may cause you to weaken in your efforis to iive an
honest, law-abiding and useful life, .

8. You are to report to the Court in person as directed by your community control e_iﬁéim '

{Iffer any reason you are unable to report a1 the time indicmted, communicate with the Comnenity G u:rai e
Officer withowt delay. { Telephone 687-7048 } S

N o
{ Defendant ,0 . LR
1002309
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9. You are no! to own or operate motor vehicle or secure a driver's or apergior’s hcense

without first obtaining the permission of this Court. If such permission is granted, you shal)
immediately submit to this Coust, for its records: (I) your operator's license, (2) the Certificate
of Title, (3) the license number, (4) the vehicle registration and (5) your insurance policy for any
such vehicle. You are to notify the Court before any changes are made to the above and keep

the Court informed of such changes without delay. : :

10. You are to pay a fine in the amount of & plus the court costs, You

are to make complete restitution to all parties injured or damaged by your conduct. The amount
of restitution, as determined by the Court, will include a poundage fee of 2%, You will also pay
supervision fees, as ordemé by the Cum not to cxmd $50.00 per month. Your Community

Control Officer wi ich you will pe axpectcd to
follow. :

11. Defendant is to spend O days/months in the Fairfield County Jail. =

12. Defendentistospend ¢ days in Community Service.

13. You are not to have any firearms or dangerous weapons or ordinance in ycrur posses&on at
any time,

14, You shal] not provide false information or withhold information from the COlK‘{O}‘ any
Community Control Officer , :

15. You shall complete a literacy program, if required, and obtain your h:gh scbml dzpioms or
GED if you have not graduated from high school, &

16. You will-comply with any changes or additional terms imposed upon you by agreement or
order of the Court during the period of your community control. The right to impose additions,
special conditions and further instructions beyond the terms herein specified and outlined is fully
and completely reserved to the Court. Such changes sha!l be in writing and shall becamc spart

of the sanctions of your community control.

 Page2002310



17. You are pot to become mtex;cated,er 2610 places where intoxicating beveragas are st}ld asa .

major part of their business. You are not o use nagegtics, illegal or habit forming drugs w1ﬁwut a.

doctor’s prescription. You are to avoid persons who possess, use or sel! such drugs and piaﬁes where ‘
such drugs are illegally possessed, sold orused. )

18. You are oréered to submit to any type of counseling, testing and/or treatment, af your
cost, 8s may be ordered by the Court or the Community Control Officer, Pursuant to
Section 2949.11 of the Ohio Revised Code, Drug Testing foes will be paid directly to the
County Probation Fund to offset the expense of urinalysis testing. Testing fees shall bc
patd at the time of each test as adnun;stercd :

19. FOR SEX OFFENDERS. You will not have, possess, or view, any pomographic matetial,

mcluémg adu!t or ch.t}d pomugraphy, mlhar in print form, video, or downloaded by computer, to lns:luéc R

; - - aferials, Y ou shall not possess, in any manner, plctum
s}f shﬂdren u:ndm* the age of i8. Further, you shall not photograph any person under thc age of 18

under any circurnstances.
You will participate in treatmnent as prescribed by Court approved treatment providers. ‘You shall

comply with all the treatrent requirements.
/ |

nefendant

~ Paes 002311



STIPULATIONS ANI) AGREEMENTS

A. I have read the "Community Control Sanctions”. I fully understand the terms thmf
and I accept community controf and agree to abide by the terms stated herein,

activities,

C. 1 furthermore consent to my being questioned by any probation officer and 1 consent to-
and shall submit to a search of myself, my property and my residence which includes .~
commnon areas within and areas within the residence that are exclusive to mc, at any ume
by such officers, SN

D. 1 furthermore consent to any entry into my motor vehicle as to the fact of my having beéia ‘
placed on Comumunity Control by this Court, during the period of my community contml. '

E. I furthermore authorize any police officer or a person having charge of Comumty Comml :
matters who has knowledge of or observes any violations of the terms of my Commumity
Conirol, to apprehend me and take me into custody for said violations and prcsmt my case ina
timely manner before this Count. . :

F. I furthermore agree, if the Court shall so direct, that T will submit myself to and ’coapemté ‘
with a psychiatrist, medical doctor or other medical or psychological specialist, I hereby agree
to pay for said services and I do hereby authorize and direct said doctor, psychological or other
medical specialist to submit a complete report of his findings, prognosis and rooommmdauorzs
to this Court. :

G. T further understand that failure 1o adhere strictly to the terms, stipulations and Wéf
Community Control could result in the termination of said Community Ccntrol and be ‘
sentenced to a term in prison based upon my conviction.

. PeR4 002312



H. Special Conditions:

Signed in our presence:

The Defendant herein, baving accepted Community Control Sanctions, the stipulations and -
agreements indicated above is hereby placed on comumunity control fer/a?cnod of ___'_ﬁ;_yeats

Date: 9// < ‘9{'/;’5 'S &/@’W

( Judge

GLERITS CERTY iﬂATE
Tha Sbils of Oblo, Fairfield County, ss:
f m unﬁmgﬁad Clerk of Colirty ef <oid cousty, nm *vi.if*r

"% fﬁr@amg s a tete g paroedd rnny 0 th ,..
j w%% I{]ﬂ

m gy haaé 2 offie sea it | dml ag ME{} ag-

{[ark rﬁ

ﬂ ?ﬁ!s’,}
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IN THE COURT F HOF{BON PLEAS, FAIRFIELD COUNTY, OHIO :

205 470 29 »PH-3?-"33 CASENO,04 CR237 "N COMPY 7z

RON DALSER -
THE STATE OF Off§" 7 o3 }]}gr
PLE

VS,

BRIAN K. O'KEEFE, | :

Defendant.

1, Brian K. OKeefe, being a citizen of the United States, do hereby admit and deciare thatI have -

been fully informed by the Court concerning the following matters;

1. My right to a jury trial, my right to confront the witnesses who may appésr a’g'ain'st

me, to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in my favor, and.my right

to require the State to prove my guilt beyond 2 reasonable doubt at a trial whcre 1
cannot be compelied to be a witness against myself. e

2. If the Court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest it must then proceed with: cmcrmg :

judgment and sentencing.

I understand that the maximum penalties are as follows:

Counts One and Two, Criminal Non-Support of a Dependent, in violation of Section 2019.21(A)(2)
of the Ohio Revised Code and carrying a maximuam penalty of 6, 7,8, 9, 10, 11 or 12 mornthsin a
penal institution in the State of Ohio and a fine of up to §2,500.00 on each county.  Court costs,

restitution and other financial sanctions may be imposed against me, purseant to Revised Code
2929.18, :

I understand that if this Court imposes a prison term, I will also be subjected toa pcnod of post-‘ -

release control for up to 3 years after my release from imprisonment.

Ifthis Court is not required by law to impose a prison sanction, it may impose & connﬁﬁﬁity’sgﬁttb]

sanction or non-prison sanction upon me. If7Tviolate the rules or conditions of such a commimity

conirol sanction, the Court may extend the time for which [ am, subject to this sanction up 1o a
maximum of 5 years, impuse 8 more restrictive sanction or impose a term of i zmpnsonment for up
to the maximum term allowed for the offense{s) set out above. : :

Having been advised of the above matters, I do hereby, in open Court, waive my right to a tﬁ'gl.:‘by '

17002314
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jury and to require the State to prove my guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; my privilege against self-
incrimination; my right to confront the witnesses against me; and my right to have compulsory
process to obtain witnesses in my behalf With permission of the Court, I herehy withdraw my
former plea of "not guilty” and enter % plea of "no gont&t" to the erime as charged in the Indictment

and as stated above,

No promises or threats have been made to me by anyone to induce me to enter a plea or pleas of
guilty to the offense(s) set forth above.

Signed this ) day of 2 April . 2005,
WITNESSES: ‘ L
= DY
‘/j/’;’% ,%f\a— r Defondant ’é«f 7} |
CLERK'S GERTIFIGATE
The St of Ohio, Fairfield County, st

f, e undarsigned Clerk of Courls of said county, herehy oer’ufy
;%‘ Wi foregoing 18 4 true and cotrect copy dof the orl inal....
! tu.m g it e 139 a.acs
BNAEE; imﬂ ;md ﬂf?§i§ gl th@-} ﬁay W 25 05’

TN b
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Electrenically Filed
01/03/2011 01:25:57 PM

NOTC e b B

DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781

LIZ MERCER

Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #0010681

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff, g CASE NO: C-08-250630
VS ; DEPT NO: XVII
BRYAN O'KEEFE, 3
#1447732 )
Defendant. %

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
[NRS 174.234(2)]

TO: BRYAN O'KEEFE, Defendant; and

TO: PATRICIA PALM ESQ, Counsel of Record:

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chief:

1.) SUNDBURG, ANDRFEA. Will testify as an expert in battered women's syndrome,

power and control dynamics, and the cycle of abuse, generally.
The substance of each expert witness' testimony and a copy of all reports made
by or at the direction of the expert witness has been provided in discovery.
i
i
/"
i

CnProgram Files\Neevia. ComiDocument Converlertemphl432263-1670351.D0C
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A copy of each expert witness' curriculum vitae, if available, is attached hereto.

o Juo Ress

DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

I hereby certify that service of SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES, was made this __3rd day of January, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:

PATRICIA PALM ESQ
FAX #386-9114

/s/ T. SCHESSLER
Secretary for the District Attorney's
Office

(_‘.:\Pu%mnl Files\Neevia.Com\Document ConverterMemph1432263.1670351.D0C
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Andren Sundberg
PO Box 620716
Las Vegas, NV §9122

Phone: 702-990-3460
Fax: 702-990-3461
E-mail: andreasundberg@gmail.com

EDUCATION

Kent State University

Kent, Ohio

BA Criminal Justice With a focus en Sociology

University of Nevada Las Vegas
Las Vegas, Nevada

Master in Public Administration
2006-Current

AWARDS, FELLOWSHIPS, GRANTS
Townhall IT

Kent, Ohio

Outstanding Advocacy Services 1999

Statc of Nevada Attorney General’s Office
Appreciation Award for service on Committee of Domestic Violence 2007

PosiTIONS HELD

November 2007—Current
Executive Director
Nevada Coalition Against Sexual Violence

Primary Duties are to work throughout the State of Nevada on the implementation of
services to assist survivors of sexual assault.

November 2002—November 2007
Community Education and Outreach Manager
S.A.F.E, House

Responsible for creating and conducting educational scminars on the issue of domestic
violence for law enforcement, professionals, and members of the community. Worked on
legislative issues and provided testimony before the state legislature on pending
legislation affecting victims of domestic violence.

002318



July 2000—May 2002
Cleveland Rape Crisis Center
Justice System Advocate

Assisted survivors of sexual assault whose cases were progressing through the lcgal
system and conducted educational seminars on the crime of sexual assault; worked on the
24 hour crisis hotline.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

“Sexual Assault and Domestic Violence Education Schools”
Adolescent Sexual Health Confercnce

Las Vegas, NV

January 2008

“Sexual Assault and Domestic Violence Curriculum Development in Schools™
Nevada Network Against Domestic Violence

Reno, NV

September 2007

*Sexual Assault and Domestic Violencc Education Schools™
National Organization for Victim Assistance

Reno, NV

July 2008

“Working Togethcr to Eliminate Voice Against Women”
Nevada Coalition Against Sexual Violence

Las Vegas, NV

June 2006

CERTIFCATES

Police Officer Standardized Training (POST) Certified Instructor for Domestic Violence, Scxual
Assauli, and Victims Rights

State of Nevada

VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE

Townhall 11 Crisis Line Worker and Scxual Assault Response Team
Townhall 1T Board of Directors

Victims Resource Center Laurelwood Hospital Crisis Line Worker
Pertage County Domestic Violence Protocol Council

Portage County Crime Victims Rights Week Committee

Kent State University Student Advisory Council

Cuyahoga County Council on Sex Offender’s Issucs

Coordinated Community Response Council

Prevent Child Abuse Nevada Advisory Board

Southern Nevada Domestic Viclence Task Force

NNADY Viclence and Disability Assessment Team

NNAVD Teen Dating Violence Initiative

002319



AHEC of Southern Nevada Board of Directors

State Of Nevada Committee on Domestic Violence
Cuyahoga County Children’s Mental Health Congortium
State of Nevada Domestic Violence Prevention Council

002320



(S

o = = e = T T I

—

[y — i I [ry [S— [ et
[ o] ~l jop) wn +~ W [\ —_—

e
o

20

Electronically Filed
01/06/2011 12:58:47 PM

0332 i B

DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
CHRISTOPHER LALLI
Nevada Bar #005398

Chief Deputy District Altormey
LIZ MERCER

Deputy District Altorney
Nevada Bar #0010681

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
{702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
Case No. C250630
-VS_

DeptNo.  XVII
BRIAN O’KEEFE,
#1447732

Defendant,

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION IN LIMINE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE
OF OTHER BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045 AND
EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PURSUANT TO 48.061

DATE OF HEARING: 01/20/2011
TIME OF HEARING: 8:00 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through
CHRISTOPHER LALLI, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and LIZ MERCER, Deputy
District Attorney, and files this Notice of Motion and Motion to Admit Evidence of Other
Bad Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045 and Evidence of Domestic Violence Pursuant to NRS
48.061.
iy
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This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.
NOTICE OF HEARING
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned

will bring the foregoing motion on for setting before the above entitled Court, in Department
XVII thereof, on the 20th day of January, 2011, at the hour of 8:00 o'clock a.m., or as soon
thereafter as counsel may be heard.
DATED this day of January, 2011.
DAVID ROGER

DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/LIZ MERCER

LIZ MERCER
Deputy District Attomey
Nevada Bar #0010681

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 5, 2008, Victoria Whitmarsh was killed by a single stab wound
inflicted by Defendant Brian O'Keefe. Defendant was charged with one count of Open
Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. At the first jury trial in this case, Defendant was
convicted of Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. The case was
subsequently reversed by the Nevada Supreme Court and retried. Upon retrial of this case,
the jury hung. Tn each of the trials of this matter, Defendant presented a defense of self-

defense and/or accident. The case is presently set for jury trial on January 24, 2011.

2
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PRIOR DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Event Number 030107-0129

Defendant and Vicloria engaged in a verbal argument on January 7, 2003, when
Defendant became jealous. The two had been drinking. Victoria attempted to calm
Defendant down but it did not work, Defendant began to slap Victoria in the face repeatedly
causing her to get a nose bleed. Police were contacted and when they responded, they
observed that Victoria still had an active nose bleed. Defendant was charged in Las Vegas
Justice Court Case No. 03M00410X. Ultimately, Defendant pled guilty to obstructing a
police officer.
Event Number 030804-2025

On August 4, 2003 Defendant and Victoria were at the Albertson’s on Silverado when
Victoria advised Defendant that she did not fee! well, The two returned to their apartment.
When they got to their apartment, Defendant carried Victoria on her stomach and Victoria
asked him not to because she was afraid it would make her throw up. Defendant then
dropped her on her back and said he did not care. Victoria told Defendant that he hurt her
and Defendant became upset, Defendant then poured water on Victoria and told her she
would be fine. Victoria became frightened and went to the office to call 911. The
disposition of this incident is unknown.,
Event Number 031114-0539

Three months later, on November 14, 2004, Victoria and Defendant began to argue
over money matters. At approximately 8:20 p.m., Defendant arrived at Victoria’s residence.
Once inside, the two argued again and Defendant grabbed Victoria by the arm, pushed her
down in the kitchen area, struck her on the head with his fist, and then choked her with one
hand while smothering her with a pillow. The next door neighbor, Honey Mott, heard the
commotion and knocked on the door. Mott heard yelling and screaming. A few minutes
passed and Victoria unlocked the door, Moit grabbed Victoria and took her to her

apartment, Defendant immediately went to Mott’s residence, broke out the front window
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and entered Mott’s apartment. Mott and Victoria went into the bedroom area attempting to
exit through the bedroom window. Police officers in the vicinity heard the commotion and
breaking glass and responded to the apartment. Defendant was arrested at the scene.
Officers noted bruising on Victoria as well as redness around her neck and a lump on her
head. Defendant was charged in Las Vegas Justice Court Case No. 03M25901X and
ultimately pled guilty to Battery Constituting Domestic Violence.

Event Number (031126-0903

Just days after the November 14, 2004 beating, police were called to the residence of
Defendant and Victoria yet again. On November 26, 2003, Officers were dispatched to the
couple’s home for a welfare check. Upon arrival, the apartment manager unlocked the door
for officers. When officers made contact with Victoria, she was covered m bruises and
appeared to have been beaten severely. With Defendant speaking over her, Victoria initially
claimed she “fell.” However, once the officers separated the parties, Victoria began to cry
and told Officer Penny that Defendant drinks whiskey, gets violent, and beats her. Victoria
claimed the injuries were from two (2) or three (3) days prior. When advised that neighbors
reported hearing the two engaged in a dispute that day, Victoria stated that Defendant was
yelling at her about her ex-husband. Officers then confronted Victoria with information they
received from the neighbors indicating that the neighbors heard Defendant beating her, at
which time Victoria looked away, began to cry, and stated that it was her fault. Victoria
would not elaborate any further. Officers noted that some of the bruising was old, but some
looked fresh.

Detective Hodson was eventually able to obtain the details of the incident from
Victoria on December 18, 2003 in a written Voluntary Statement. Victoria recounted that
following the brutal November 14 beating, she called her ex-husband and daughter and went
to stay with them. Once Defendant was released from jail, two (2) days after the November
14 incident, he began calling her and leaving her messages. Because Victoria needed to get
some of her belongings from Defendant, she agreed to meet with him. Defendant went to

where Victoria was staying, and she got into the car with Defendant. They returned to their
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residence. The two began to discuss their relationship and Victoria told Defendant that she
could not continue to be in a relationship with him if he was going to continue being violent
with her. Defendant then asked her why she was back with her husband, grabbed her by the
right hand and threw her into the wall. Then, Defendant punched her on the left side of her
face. Victoria’s left eye immediately began to swell and she felt excruciating pain. Victoria
asked him why he hit her. Defendant told her that no one clse could have her because
she is his, that if he found out she was with someone else, he would kill her and, that if
she tried to leave him, he would hunt her down until the end of time. Defendant then
grabbed her by the hair and repeatedly bashed her head into the cabinet door. Victoria told
Defendant to stop and tried to push him away. Defendant began choking her so hard it
caused her to cough. Defendant shouted at her, “So, you want to fight back. Let’s see if you
can.” Victoria tried to calm him. He grabbed her hair again, dragged her by the hair, and
then knocked her on the ground. Defendant shouted at her, “I will kill you if I find out
you’re cheating on me!” At that point, Defendant began repeatedly punching Victoria over
and over again. Then, he got up and started kicking her in the ribs and back, Victoria could
not breathe because of the intensity of the pain. Defendant stopped beating her and she
begged him to take her to the hospital but he refused. When Victoria tried to escape,
Defendant grabbed her and told her she better not leave or he would do something to her.
He took all of the clothes that she was wearing, except for her panties so that she could not
leave. Defendant kept her there for several days. On the day the police responded
(November 26) when Victoria told Defendant that the police were there, he told her
that she better tell them she fell or else. Defendant was charged with Battery Constituting
Domestic Vialence in Case No. 03M26791X but the case was ultimately dismissed as part of
a packaged negotiation,
Event Number 040402-3158

On April 2, 2004, Defendant and Victoria became invelved in a verbal dispute
because Defendant believed Victoria was unfaithful. Defendant struck her in the face with

the palm of his hand. Victoria ran out of the apartment and called 911. Because there was
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no visible injury, no arrest was made. However, Defendant was escorted from the residence
he shared with Victoria by Officer Price with the Las Vegas Metropotlitan Police Department
and instructed to not return for twenty-four (24) hours. At approximately 11:00 p.m., that
same date, Defendant retuimed to residence, burst through the door open and entered. A
verbal argument again ensued. Defendant then began slapping Victoria with open hands on
both sides of her face, breaking her glasses in the process. A neighbor who heard the noise
telephoned police. Defendant fled the area prior to Officer Price’s arrival. When Price
responded, he found Victoria crying, in fear, with a visible injury to her face, Deflendant was
subsequently charged with battery constituting domestic violence, third offense in Case No.
C207835. After Jury Trial, Defendant was convicted of the charge and sentenced to twenty-
four (24) to sixty (60) monihs in the Nevada Department of Corrections,
Event Number 040403-1089

On April 3, 2004, Defendant returned to the apartment and began shouting at Victoria
for ca]lin_g the police on him the day prior and continued to accuse her of being unfaithful.
Defendant then s apped Victoria across the face and tried to corner her, Victoria was able to
escape, fled from the apartment and ran to the apartment office. The manager, Linda
Eggleston, heard Vicloria screaming, “Help me! Help me!” Eggleston was able to grab
Victoria and pull her into her office and lock the door. Then, they called the police. Officer
Rumery contacted Defendant at the couple’s apartment and he was arrested for two (2)
counts battery constituting domestic violence — one for the April 2 incident and one for the
April 3 incident. Defendant was charged for both incidents in Las Vegas Municipal Court
Case No. C581783A and pled guilty to Battery Constituting Domestic Violence.
Event Number 040529-2232

In the late hours of May 28, 2004/early morning hours of May 29, 2004, Victoria and
Defendant got into a verbal argument. The police were once again called to the couple’s
residence and Defendant left for a cooling off period. Later on May 29, 2004 dispaich
received a call from the Budget Suites management office where Defendant and Victoria

resided reporting a domestic incident between the two (2). Security advised dispatch that
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Victoria was very upset and bleeding from the mouth.

Victoria spoke with dispatch and relayed that in addition to being beaten by
Defendant, he also forced her to have anal intercourse with him. Patrol responded to the
Budget Suites and made contact with Victoria and Defendant who had been placed into
custody by security prior to Metro’s arrival.  Patrol also observed that Victoria was visibly
upset and crying. Victoria advised them that Defendant beat her and subjected her to sexual
contact. Patrol contacted Detective Moniot who responded to UMC where Victoria was
transported.

When Detective Moniot made contact with Victoria, she was very withdrawn, visibly
upset, crying vigorously, and holding herself around her mid-section. Detective Moniot also
observed that she was walking “gingerly.” Victoria complained of severe rectal pain from
being anally penetrated. While speaking with Victoria, Detective Moniot also noticed that
there was a significant amount of hair from Victoria’s head on her upper body. Victoria
stated that it was a result of Defendant pulling out her hair.

During the course of Detective Moniot’s taped interview of Victoria, she detailed the
circumstances of Defendant’s brutal attack. According to Victoria, the two had been having
problems because of Defendant’s drinking problems and his thoughts that she was
unfaithful. Victoria advised Detective Moniot that she suffered abuse at Defendant’s hands
many times over the several preceding years, but that she always took him back because he
sweet talked her. On the evening of May 28, 2004, the two were at Texas Station bowling
and drinking. The two got into an argument because Defendant was drinking too much and
Victoria wanted him to stop and go home. Victoria ended up walking home alone.

Victoria contacted security at Budget Suites to obtain an escort to her room because
she was afraid of Defendant. Security walked her to their room and found Defendant
present, Security called Metro due to the domestic issues. Metro responded and asked
Defendant to leave for the night. Victoria went to sleep for the night and awoke some time
after noon when Defendant began knocking on the door. She did not want to allow

Defendant inside, but he stated that he just needed to get his belongings because he had
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someone coming to pick him up. Victoria ultimately allowed Defendant inside.

When Defendant entered the room, he immediately began behaving aggressively and
accusing Victoria of having sex with other individuals. Defendant struck her about the head,
face, and body repeatedly. He then pushed her onto the couch and forced her to perform oral
sex on him. Victoria complied because she feared for her life. Then, Defendant forced her
to engage in vaginal intercourse for a short time before demanding anal intercourse.
Defendant torced her to engage in anal intercourse, telling her that rectum felt loose and he
believed she was sleeping with other men. Defendant ejaculated inside of her anus.

Approximately half an hour later, Defendant forced her to perform oral sex on him
and submit to vaginal intercourse again. Additionally, he once again forced her to engage in
anal intercourse. Victoria convinced Defendant to stop because she wanted to use the
restroom. Victoria went to the restroom and would not come out. She waited until
Defendant fell asleep, got dressed, left the room quictly and got security.

During the course of the follow-up investigation, Detectives learned that Security
Officer Besse was first contacted by Victoria who was very upset and had blood on her face.
Besse went to the couple’s room and found Defendant passed out in the bed, completely
naked. Due to the gravity of the situation, Besse placed Defendant in custody.

CSA Horn responded to the scene and discovered that the scene was consistent with
Victoria’s version of events. Specifically, he located a white and black Zebra print dress
with fecal matter and blood on it and a pair of blue shorts with fecal matter and blood on it.
Those were the clothing ilems worm by Victoria after the first and second assaults,

Victoria also underwent a SANE exam at UMC which was administered by Linda
Ebbert. Nurse Ebbert noted multiple sites of bruising all over Victoria’s body and a
laceration to her upper lip. Additionally, she observed several deep lacerations to Victoria’s
anus. The injuries were consistent with Victoria's version of events.

Defendant was ultimately charged with multiple counts of Sexual Assault, Attempt
Sexual Assault, Burglary, and Assault and Battery. Following a jury trial, Defendant was

found guilty of Burglary and Battery.
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ARGUMENT

I

EVIDENCE CONCERNING PRIOR INSTANCES OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IS
ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO 48.045 AND 48.061.

The State seeks to admit evidence concerning Defendant’s prior instances of domestic
violence committed against Victoria pursuant to NRS 48.045 and NRS 48.061 as evidence of
motive (ill-will), intent, and absence of mistake. Additionaily, the State secks to admit the
evidence to provide a much needed context for the facts and circumstances of Victoria’s
killing. The State respectfully submits that the jury should not be forced to judge the facts
and circumstances of the events of November 5, 2008 in a vacuum. Rather, the jury should
be entitled to fully understand the dynamics of the relationship between Defendant Brian
O’Keefe and Victoria Whitmarsh. More specifically, the State submits that the prior
incidents of domestic violence against Victoria manifest malice/ill-will toward Victoria
which is a material issue in this case. Furthermore, the evidence is relevant to the
Defendant’s intent and/or the absence of mistake at the time of the stabbing (i.e. Was the
stabbing intentional?). Additionally, the evidence is particularly relevant to rebut a claim
that Victoria’s death was “accidental” and/or committed in “self-defense.” As set forth more
fully below, this Court has the authority to introduce such evidence pursuant to NRS 48.045
and the Domestic Violence Statute, NRS 48.061.

A

THE EVIDENCE IS ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045(2) AS PROOF OF
MOTIVE, INTENT, AND ABSENCE OF MISTAKE

Section 48.045(2) of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the
character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity
therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof
of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or
absence of mistake or accident.

Prior to admitting such evidence, the State must establish that (1) the prior act is relevant to

the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the
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evidence is more probative than prejudicial. Cipriano v. State, 111 Nev. 534, 541, 894 P.2d

347, 352 (1995), overruled on other grounds by State v. Sixth Judicial District Court, 114

Nev. 739, 964 P.2d 48 (1998). With regard to a determination of prejudice:
“prejudicial” is not synonymous with “damaging.” Rather, evidence is
unduly prejudicial...only if it “uniquely tends to evoke an emotional bias
against the defendant as an individual and...has very little effect on the
issues™ or if it invites the jury to prejudge “a person or cause on the basis of
extraneous factors.” Painting a person faithfully is not, of itself, unfair.

People v. Johnson, 185 Cal.App.4th 520, 534 (2010). The admissibility of prior bad acts is

within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal unless the
decision is manifestly wrong. (anada v. State, 104 Nev. 288, 291-293, 756 P.2d 552, 554

(1988).
In Fields v. State, -- Nev. --, 220 P.3d 709 (2009), the Nevada Supreme Court

affirmed the District Court Judge’s determination to admit evidence that the Defendant owed
debts to the victim and that he had previously engaged in a conversation about killing a man
to whom he owed money. The Nevada Supreme Court agreed with the District Court’s
decision that such evidence was admissible as proof of motive, to disprove his contention
that he was just an innocent bystander to his wife’s scheme, and to prove identity.

Likewise in Ledbetter v, State, 122 Nev. 252, 262-263, 129 P.3d 671, 678-679

(2006), the Supreme Court held that it was proper for the District Court to admit evidence of
other bad acts to establish the Defendant’s motive to repeatedly subject his stepdaughter to
sexual assaults. The bad act evidence in that case consisted of evidence that Defendant
sexually assaulted other young female members of his own family. In reaching its decision,
the Court noted that the evidence was relevant to motive, proven by clear and convincing
evidence (due to four (4) different witness’ testimony) and highly probative as it showed
Defendant’s sexual attraction to, and an obsession with, young female members of his
family.

Most on point 1s Hogan v. State, 130 Nev. 21 (1987), wherein the Nevada Supreme

Court upheld the trial court’s determination to admit evidence of a prior domestic violence

10
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incident committed by Defendant against the victim in the days preceding her murder. In
Hogan, the trial court admitted evidence that several days prior to the murder, Defendant
dropped the victim to the ground from shoulder height. In affirming the District Court’s
ruling, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that such evidence was “other acts” evidence
pursuant to NRS 48.045(2) which was properly admitted to establish “ill-will as a motive to

the crime.” Hogan v. State, 130 Nev. 21, 23 (1987).

Other jurisdictions have also permitted the admission of evidence concerning prior
acts of domestic violence pursuant to “other acts” statutes in murder cases as evidence of

motive/ill-will, mtent, absence of mistake, etc. For instance, in People v. Bierenbaum, 301

A.D2™ 119, 748 N.Y.5.2d 563 (2002), the defendant was charged with murdering his wife,
who disappeared in 1985. His wife’s body was never recovered and the case against him
was circumstantial. The trial court admitted evidence that throughout the course of the
marriage, the relationship between the two was volatile. In addition, it admitted evidence
that Defendant choked her to the point of unconsciousness on at least one occasion, and that
he had been physically violent with her on many occasions. On appeal, the defendant
challenged the admission of such evidence and claimed that it was improperly admitted
“propensity” evidence. However, the reviewing Court recognized that the evidence was

relevant to intent and stated:

[T]he proof here evinces defendant’s intent to focus his aggression on one
person, namely, his wife—his victim. That key factor in the context of
marital or other intimate relationships frequently difTferentiates domestic
violence assaults and homicides—wherein prier bad acts have often been
deemed admissible during the People’s direct case—from other cases
wherein evidence of past assaultive behavior against people other than the
victim has most properly been precluded. In the former, the previous
aggression principally indicates intent, or motive, or identity; whereas in
the Iatter it can predominately give rise to an inference of propensity,

Id. (emphasts added). It also acknowledged that the evidence of prior abuse evinced that the
defendant was motivated and had intent to harm the victim,

Similarly, in Benjamin v. Kentucky, 266 S.W.3d 775 (2008), a case almost identical

11
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the one presently before this Court, the Supreme Court of Kentucky found that evidence of
Defendant’s prior assault against the decedent was properly admitted as evidence of his
motive and absence of mistake. In Benjamin, the evidence established that the relationship
between the defendant and victim was riddled with discord and that the two often fought
after consuming alcohol together. The two had recently broken-up, but on the night of the
murder were together, drinking again. While together, the two began to argue over the
victim’s alleged infidelities. Ultimately, Defendant strangled the victim to death, At the
trial, the Defendant claimed he acted in self-defense but could remember very little of the
details leading up to her death because of his alleged intoxication. In reviewing the trial
court’s decision to admit evidence of the prior assault, the Court found that it was relevant in
that it tended to prove the defendant intentionally murdered his wife, had a motive to do so,

and that the killing was not a mistake. Id. at 791,
Likewise, in People v. Ilgen, 145 II1.2d 353, 366-367, 583 N.E.2d 515, 52, 164

Hl.Dec. 599, 604 (1991), the court upheld a trial court’s decision to admit evidence that
throughout the course of the marriage of the defendant and victim, the defendant was violent
and abusive. The Court determined that “the evidence of the defendant's prior assaults on
the victim was probative of the defendant's criminal intent.” It further noted that “evidence
which shows that an event was not caused by accident tends to show that it was caused
intentionally.” Id. at 367, citing, 2 D. Louisell & C. Mueller, Federal Evidence § 140, at 224-
25 (1985) (defining intent as “merely the absence of an accident”).} Tt concluded that the
defendant's prior unprovoked assaults on his wife tended to negate the likelihood that the

shooting was an accident and thereby tended to prove his intent. Importantly, it recognized:

Whereas the shooting incident, standing alone, might appear accidental, when
considered together with the evidence of the defendant's prior unprovoked
attacks upon his wife, the circumstances suggest that the shooting was
deliberate and not accidental. This evidence, taken together with other
evidence in the case, tends to make it more probable that the defendant acted
with the criminal intent required for murder and less probable that his actions
were inadvertent or the product of an innocent state of mind.
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1d at 367. Additionally, the Court reasoned that the evidence was also relevant to proof of
motive, “in this case, a hostility showing him likely to do further violence. Id. at 367.
(“Here, the evidence that the defendant physically assaulted his wife throughout their
marriage was relevant to show their antagonistic relationship and, thus, tended to establish
the defendant's motive to kill her,”).

The Supren-le Court of Vermont has also held that such “evidence was relevant...to
portray the history swrounding the abusive relationship, providing the needed context for the

behavior in issue.” see also, State v. Laprade, 184 Vit. 251, 256 (2008), citing State v

Sanders, 168 Vt, 60, 716 A.2d 11 (1998). Furthermore, it has acknowledged that such
gvidence is relevant in cases where a defendant claims self-defense. Id., citing, State v.
Hendricks, 173 Vt. 132, 143, 787 A.2d 1270, 1279 (2001). The Laprade Court noted that
without admitting such evidence in domestic violence cases, the jury would be left without
knowledge of the context in which the acts occur and would not be able to understand the
victini’s actions or inactions. ld. at 259.

In light of the foregoing binding and persuasive authority, the State respectfully
submits that evidence concerning these prior acts of domestic violence committed against
Victoria Whitmarsh by Defendant should be admitted as evidence of motive and
intent/absence of mistake. In regard to motive, the evidence is relevant because it establishes
ill-will, that he was motivated by a desire to dominate and control her, and/or to get revenge

for sending him to prison. Likewise, as in Ledbetter v. State, supra, 122 Nev, at 262-263, the

evidence is highly probative of motive because it establishes that over the course of five (5)
years, Defendant was fixated on abusing Victoria Whitmarsh. As to intent, the evidence is
relevant as it makes it more likely that Defendant intentionally stabbed Victoria Whitmarsh

and less likely that the stabbing occurred accidentally or in self~defense as Defendant has

previously claimed. See, People v. Illgen, supra, 145 11.2d at 366-367. Furthermore, this
evidence is not more prejudicial than probative because: (1) the facts of the prior instances
are all very similar to the ones present in this case; (2) the incidents are not remote in time

from the incident for which he is currently charged; (3) most of them resulted in convictions
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(which means that Defendant will not be placed in a position of having to defend those

allegations); and, (4) the facts of the prior instances are not more horrendous than the facts of

this case.
11.
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SHOULD BE ADMITTED
PURSUANT TO NRS 48.061.

Pursuant to NRS 48.061,

Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, evidence of domestic
violence and expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic violence,
including, without limitation, the effect of physical, emotional or mental
abuse, on the beliefs, behavior and perception of the alleged victim of the
domestic violence that is offered by the prosecution or defense is admissible
in a criminal proceeding for any relevant purpese, including, without
limitation, when determining:

(a) Whether a defendant is excepted from criminal liability pursuant to
subseciion 7 of NRS 194,010, to show the state of mind of the defendant.

(b) Whether a defendant in accordance with NRS 200.200 has killed another in
self-defense, toward the establishment of the legal defense.

2. Expert testimony concerming the effect of domestic violence may not be
offered against a defendant pursuant to subsection 1 to prove the occurrence of
an act which forms the basis of a criminal charge against the defendant.

3. As used in this section, “domestic violence” means the commission of any
act described in NRS 33,018,

Prior to the statute’s amendment in 2001, it inadvertently limited the use of evidence of prior
domestic violence to those cases wherein a criminal defendant claimed to be suffering from
battered women’s syndrome as a defense to charged crimes. More specifically, prior to its

amendment in 2001, the statute read,

Evidence of domestic violence as defined in NRS 33.018 and expert testimony
concerning the effect of domestic violence on the beliefs, behavior and
perception of the person alleging the domestic violence is admissible in chief
and in rebuttal, when determining:

14
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I. Whether a person is excepted from criminal liability pursuant to subsection
7 of NRS 194.010, to show the state of mind of the defendant.

2. Whether a person in accordance with NRS 200.200 has killed another in
self-defense, toward the establishment of the legal defense.

In 2001, prosecutors who were frustrated by the repeated thwarting of their efforts to
explain to jurors the cycle of domestic violence and the effects of repeated abuse on victims
of domestic violence, urged legislators to amend the statute to its current form. More
specifically, when lobbying in support of Assembly Bill 417 during the 71" session, Genima
Waldron, the Legislative Representative for the Washoe County District Attormey’s Office
and Nevada District Attomey’s Association, argued that the bill was much needed due to the
unique dynamics of domestic violence cases. Waldron contended that the ability to call an
expert in the field of domestic violence, as well as the ability to present the jury with
evidence of repeated abuse of the victim by the defendant, would help jurors understand the
reaction and behavior of the victim (recanting, minimizing, etc.). See, Minutes of the
Meeting of the Assembly Comimittee on the Judiciary, Seventy-First Session, April 5, 2001;
see also, Minutes of the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Seventy-First Session, May 16,
2001. Assembly Bill 417 was fashioned after California’s legislation dealing with the issue.
See, Minutes of the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Seventy-First Session, May 16,
2001. Ultimately the Bill passed the House and the Senate unanimously. Since the statute’s
enactment in its revised form, the Nevada Supreme Court has yet to address the use of the

statute by the State in a published opinion. However, it has permitted the introduction of

such evidence in an unpublished opinion. See, Holcomb v. State, 2010 WL 4019626 (Nev.
2010)(upholding District Court’s decision to admit testimony of domestic violence expert to
explain the varying ages of the injuries to victim).

While there is no binding authority in Nevada concerning the admission of evidence
pursuant to NRS 48.061 by the State absent the statute itself, California Courts interpreting
and applying California Evidence Code § 1109 (the statute after which NRS 48.061 was

apparently modeled) have allowed the introduction of domestic violence evidence in a
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variety of instances. For example, in People v. Hoover, 77 Cal.App.4”’ 1020 (2000), the

Court upheld the trial court’s decision to admit evidence of previous attacks against the
victim by the defendant who was charged with aggravated assault under circumstances
involving domestic violence pursuant to § 1109 of the Califomia Evidence Code. In
reaching its conclusion the Court examined the intent of the legislature when it enacted §

1109 and noted:

The [admission of evidence of prior incidents of domestic violence] is
particularly appropriate in the area of domestic violence because on-going
violence and abuse is the norm in domestic violence cases. Not only is there a
great likelihood that any one battering episode is part of a larger scheme
of dominance and control, that scheme usually escalates in frequency and
severity. Without [the admission of prior instances of domestic violence],
the escalating nature of domestic violence is likewise masked. [f we fail to
address the very essence of domestic violence, we will continue to see cases
where perpetrators of this violence will beat their partners, even kill them, and
go on to beat or kill the next intimate partner. Since criminal prosecution is
one of the few factors which may interrupt the escalating pattern of
domestic violence, we must be willing to look at that pattern during the
criminal prosecution, or we will miss the opportunity te address this
problem at all. (citing, Assem. Com. Rep. on Public Safety Report (Jun. 25,
1996) pp. 3-4.)

Based on the foregoing, the California Legislature has determined the
policy considerations favoring the exclusion of evidence of uncharged
domestic violence offenses are outweighed in criminal demestic violence
cases by the policy considerations favoring the admission of such evidence
(emphasis added).

Id. at 1027-1028 (internal citations omitted), In that case, the defendant struck the victim in
the nose causing it to break after she informed him that she was involved in a new
relationship. The trial court permitted the victim to testify regarding prior incidents of
violence wherein the defendant hit her in the face and/or choked her and threatened to kill
her. While upholding the Court’s determination to admit the evidence under § 1109, the

reviewing Court held that the State could have also sought to admit the evidence as proof of
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motive, intent, etcetera because it tended to show that Defendant intended to inflict great

bodily injury upon her. Id. at 1027.
Similarly, in People v. Johnson, 185 Cal.App.4th 520 (2010), the Court upheld the

trial Court’s decision to admit evidence of two (2) prior domestic violence related offenses
committed by the defendant. Johnson was convicted of attempted first degree murder,
firearm assault, injury to cohabitant, felon in possession of a firearm, criminal threats, and
mayhem following an incident wherein he shot his ex-girlfiiend (Henderson) in the back.
Prior to the commencement of trial, the prosecution sought to admit evidence of three (3)
prior incidents of domestic violence by defendant.

The first incident was in 1984 when the defendant struck Lynn Webb in the jaw,
breaking it in two places. However, because it did not involve the use of a weapon the trial
court did not admit it. The second incident was in 1988 against Amanda Floyd whom the
defendant dated for a year. Floyd broke up with the defendant after she caught him using
drugs and told him to move out. Three (3) weeks later, the defendant tracked Floyd down at
her apartment and visited her. They argued again and the defendant threatened to burmn down
the apartment and kill her. Floyd tried to escape at which point the defendant grabbed her by
the hair and said, “Bitch, I'm going to kill you.” The defendant put the gun to Floyd’s
forehead and pulled the trigger, but the gun did not fire. He pulled the trigger two (2) more
times as Floyd backed away, but it still did not fire. Floyd then tripped over a chair and
covered her face with her arms. The fourth time the defendant pulled the trigger, the gun
fired, hitting her in the left elbow. Her arm was broken and the bullet was still lodged in her
arm at the time of trial,

The third incident occurred in 1992 and invelved Lynn Webb, The defendant and
Webb were arguing in front of his mother’s house at which time he pulled out a gun. Webb
ducked and heard two (2) shots. She looked down and saw she was struck in the leg.
Webb’s femur was broken and she had to undergo hip surgery. The trial court admitted
evidence of the 1988 and 1992 shootings finding the evidence more probative than

prejudicial and concluding that it would “assist the trier of fact in determining elements and
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issues that will be relevant in this case.” People v, Johnson, supra, 185 Cal.App.4th at 530-

331.

The reviewing Court in Johnson, in evaluating the Court’s determination of
probativeness once again examined the legislature’s intention in enacting Section 1109 and

noted the uniqueness of domestic violence cases.

The statute reflects the legislative judgment that in domestic violence cases, as
in sex crimes, similar prior offenses are ‘uniquely probative’ of guilt in later
accusations...Indeed, proponenis of the bill that became section 1109 argued
for admissibility of such evidence because of the ‘typically repetitive nature’
of domestic violence...This pattern suggests a psychological dynamic not
necessarily involved in other types of crimes.

Id. at 532, It noted that the principal factor in determining probativeness is the similarity to
the charged offense. Furthermore, it determined that the probative value of the prior
incidents was great because in each incident Defendant resorted to shooting his girlfriend
when she either decided to leave him or engaged in an argument with him. Additionally,
Defendant’s drug usage was a factor in each incident and each incident resulted in serious
injury. The Court also reasoned that the fact that Detendant was convicted in each incident
weighed m favor of admissibility, as did the fact that the evidence came from independent
SOLTCES.

While the Court noted the evidence was inflammatory, it agreed with the trial court’s
decision that it was less offensive than the allegations in the instant case wherein Defendant
lured the victim to the parking lot and shot her in the back in front of children. [d. at 534
(citations omitted)(emphasis added). It also rejected Defendant’s contention that the
evidence was more prejudicial than probative because the victim was cooperative. Instead,
the reviewing Court determined the probativeness should be evaluated independent of the
victim’s cooperativeness with the principal consideration being the similarity of the incident
to the charged offenses. The Court also concluded that the prejudicial impact was
diminished by the fact that evidence of the current crime was strong because it was less

likely the jury would convict based upon his past misdeeds. Id. at 536.
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In addition, the Court declined to find error with the trial court’s decision to admit the
evidence despite the fact that the events took place more than ten (10) years prior to the
charged offenses. [t noted that the trial court determined there was a significant issue of
intent and found the evidence relevant to intent, motive and lack of mistake. As such, the
Court concluded that the trial court properly considered the issues.

Alaska has also enacted a statute similar to that enacted in California and Nevada.
Seg, Alaska R. Evid. 404(b)(4). Following the passage of that statute, the Alaska Court of
Appeals developed several factors that the courts are to examine prior to admitting evidence
of prior incidents of domestic violence, Those factors include: (1) the strength of the
government’s evidence that the defendant committed the other acts; (2) the character trait the
other acts tend to prove; (3) whether that trait is relevant to any material issue in the case; (4)
if so, how relevant; and, (4) how strongly the other acts tend to prove that trait. Bennett v.
Municipality of Anchorage, 205 P.3d 1113, 1116 (Alaska App.2009) citing, Bingaman v.
State, 76 P.3d 398, 408, 415 (Alaska App.2003). Like California, Alaska requires an
evaluation of remoteness and similarity to the charged offenses in determining the probative
value of the evidence. Id.

In Bennett v. Municipality of Anchorage, supra, 205 P.3d 1113, the trial court

admitted evidence of a prior 2005 attack by the defendant against the named vietim because
it was relevant to his propensity to attack his wife and then claim self-defense. The charges
in Bennett arose from an incident in 2008 wherein the defendant was angry and drinking all
day. The two (2) began arguing and the victim began to call the police, at which point the
defendant took the phone and threw it against the wall repeatedly until it broke. Then, the
defendant started to scream at the victim, held her down by the throat and put his hand over
her mouth and nose so she could not breathe, The defendant then struck her in the head
several times and slammed her head into the wall.

The victim testified to a 2005 incident in which the defendant struck her repeatedly in
the face and choked her causing her to sustain two black eyes, bruises around her neck, and

broken blood vessels in her eye. As with the 2008 incident, the defendant was drunk at the
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time of the offense. In both the 2005 incident and the 2008 incident for which the defendant
was on trial, the defendant claimed self-defense. The Appellate Court upheld the trial
court’s determination to admit the evidence due to the similarities between the two incidents.
It noted that the 2005 incident had some tendency to miake miore or less probable the
defendant’s propensity to assault his wife and then claim he acted in self-defense. As such,
that character trait was material to the government’s case because Bennett’s intent—whether
he mtended to assault the victim or merely acted in self-defense—was the only disputed
issue. Id.at 1118.

[1linois has also enacted a siatute similar to the above-mentioned étalutes. See, 725
ILCS 5/115-7.4. That statute provides that “in a criminal prosecution in which the defendant
is accused of an offense of domestic violence evidence of the defendant's commission of
another offense or offenses of domestic violence is admissible, and may be considered for its
bearing on any matter to which it is relevant.” The statute also sets forth the factors a court
should consider in determining the admissibility of such evidence. Those specific factors
include weighing the probative value against the prejudicial eflect, remoteness, factual
similarities, and other relevant facts and circumstances. Id.

In People v. Dabbs, 396 Ill.App.3d 622 (2010), the [linois Court of Appeals was

called upon to determine the constitutionality of the statute following Defendant’s conviction
for domestic battery. During the trial, the Court admitted evidence that Defendant
previously abused his ex-wife (not the victim in the case). On appeal, Gregory Dabbs
claimed that the statute violated both the Equal Protection Clause and the Due Process
Clause. As to the equal protection claim, the Court determined that domestic violence
defendants are not a “suspect class;” and, therefore, the statute must only pass the rational
basis test. The court adopted the rationale of the California Courts and held that domestic
violence is a repetitive and secretive crime that is highly unreported and typically turmed into
a credibility contest and noted that § 115-7.4 was passed as an attempt to address the
difficulties of proof unique to the prosecution of domestic violence cases by strengthening

the evidence and promoting the prosecution of such cases. Id. at 627. Ultimately, the Court
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concluded that those reasons were sufficient to satisfy the rational basis test. Dabbs’ Due
Process argument failed because of the safegnards built into the statute — the requirement
that the State provide notice to the defendant of its intent to present such evidence and the
requirement that the Cowrt weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial
effect.

While the Nevada Supreme Court has yet to interpret NRS 48.061 in a published
opinion in which the State has sought to introduce evidence of prior acts of domestic
violence, the plain language of the statute indicates that the evidence may be admitted for
“any relevant purpose.” Furthermore, the legislative history of the statute indicates that the
legisiative ntent was to model the statute after Califomia’s equivalent statute (§ 1109).
Moreover, it evinces that the intent in amending the statute in 2001 was to permit the State to
admit evidence of prior instances of domestic violence to provide context to the relationship
between the defendant and the victim in domestic violence cases. Similarly, California and
the numerous jurisdictions cited above have liberally interpreted similar statutes and/or
general bad acts statutes to authorize the admission of such evidence because of the unique
problems faced by the prosecution of domestic violence cases as well as the repetitiveness of
domestic violence.

In light of the plain langnage of NRS 48.061, which states that such evidence may be
admitted “for any relevant purpose” as well as the above-cited persuasive authority, the State
respect{ully submits that evidence concerning the prior acts of domestic violence committed
by Defendant against Whitmarsh should be admitted in this case. The evidence is relevant to

provide the jury with information concerning the context of the relationship between

Defendant and Whitmarsh (State v. Laprade, supra, 184 Vt. 251), to establish Defendant’s

intent to kill/intentionally stab Whitmarsh (People v. Hoover, supra, 77 Cal.App.4" 1020;

People v. Johnson, supra, 185 Cal.App.4™ 520; People v. Bierenbaum, supra, 301 A.D.2d

119; State v. Laprade, supra, 184 Vi, at 256), to explain why Whitmarsh would return to

Defendant after he went to prison for beating her, as well as to refute Defendant’s claim that

the stabbing was accidental/done in self-defense (See, Bennett v. Municipality of Anchorage,
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supra, 205 P.3d 1113).

Moreover, the prior instances are not remole in time to the charged offenses as they
all occurred within the five (5) years leading up to Vicioria’s killing. Likewise, the acts are
similar to the acts charged in this case, which makes them probative to the issue of intent (an
intent to abuse/kill as opposed to defend himself). Furthermore, many of the acts the State
seeks to introduce resulted in prior convictions, making them less prejudicial as the proof of
such acts is strong. Additionally, the State’s evidence in this case is strong, making it less

likely that the jury will convict Defendant simply because of his past conduct.
CONCLUSION

Based upon all of the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that its Motion in
Limine to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045 and Evidence of
Domestic Violence Pursuant to NRS 48.061 be granted.

DATED this day of January, 2011.

DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/LIZ MERCER

LIZ MERCER
Deputy District Altorney
Nevada Bar #0010681
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CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

1 hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing, was made this 6th day of

January, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:

ts/dvu

PATRICIA PALM ESQ
FAX: 386-9114

/s/ T. SCHESSLER

Secretary for the District Attorney's

Office
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PALM LAW FIRM, L.LTD.
PATRICIA PALM, ESQ.

NEVADA BAR NO., 6009

1212 CASINO CENTER BLVD.
LAS VEGAS, NV 89104

Phone: (702) 386-9113

Fax: (702) 386-9114

Email: Patricia.palmlaw@gmail.com
Attorney for Brian O'Keefe

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
STATE OF NEVADA, % CASE NO: C250630
Plaintiff, DEPT. NO: XVII
va.

DATE:
BRIAN K. O'KEEFE,

TIME:

Defendant.

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO
DISMISS ON GROUNDS OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY BAR AND SPEEDY
TRIAL VIOLATION AND, ALTERNATIVELY, TO PRECLUDE STATE’S

NEW EXPERT WITNESS, EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT RELATING TO
THE DYNAMICS OR EFFECTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE
COMES NOW the Defendant, Brian O'Keefe, by and through his attorney,
Patricia Palm of Palm Law Firm, Ltd., and hereby moves this Honorable Court fon
an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice on the grounds that further trial proceedingsg
are barred by the Double Jeopardy Provisions of the United States and Nevadal
Constitutions and the Speedy Trial provisions of The United States Constitution
and NRS 178.556, and, alternatively, to preclude the State from presenting its new
expert witness, Andrea Sundberg, and any testimony, other evidence or argument
relating to the dynamics or effects of domestic viclence and abuse.
///
i
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This Motion is made and based upon the following Points and Authorities,
the attached Declaration of Counsel, Exhibit (filed under seal), all papers and|
documents on file in the record, and any argument as may be had at the time of
hearing.
Dated this 'ﬁ.ay of January, 2011.

PALM IRM, LTD.

Py

" Pafricia A. Palm, Bar No. 6009
Attorney for Defendant '

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and

TO: DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring on the

above and attached MOTION on the _-C day o2 -, 2011, at the hour of

G A K

.m.,, in Department No, XVII of the above-entitled Court, or as soon thereafter

as Counsel may be heard.

DATED this? day of January, 2011.

i S

By: PATRICIA PALM
Nevada Bar No. 6009
1212 Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Attorney for Defendant
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DECLARATION

PATRICIA A. PALM makes the following declaration:
1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada; I am|
the attorney representing Defendant O'Keefe in this matter.
2. That on January 3, 2011, the State faxed to this counsel a Supplemental
Notice of Expert Witnesses stating that it intended to present the testimony of]
Andrea Sundberg, as “an expert in battered women’s syndrome, power and control
dynamics, and the cycle of abuse, generally,” in its case in chief at the upcoming
retrial of Mr, O'Keefe. |
3. That the State's supplemental expert witness notice had no reports attached
to it, and the defense is unaware what the expert's opinion would be, if any, or upon
what foundation any opinion would be based.
4, That true and correct copies of Whitmarsh’s medical records, which the
parties have had since the March 2009 original trial in this case, are being]
simultaneously provided to this Court on a CD as an Exhibit to this Motion with a
request to file these under seal.
5. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
(NRS 53.045).
EXECUTED this 7%t day of January, 2011

PATRICIA A, PALM
Bar No, 6009
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Defendant Brian K. O'Keefe with murder with use of a
deadly weapon for the alleged November 5, 2008 killing of Victoria Whitmarsh. On
January 20, 2009, he entered a plea of not guilty and invoked his constitutional and
statutory rights to a speedy trial. On February 2, 2009, the State filed a motion to
admit evidence of other crimes, which O'Keefe opposed. The Court ruled that the
State could introduce evidence of threats to the alleged victim Whitmarsh through
witness Cheryl Morris, a woman whom O'Keefe had dated then rejected. Morrid
claimed that O'Keefe stated a desire to kill Whitmarsh and also demonstrated to
Morris his proficiency at how to kill with knives. The Court further ruled that the
State could introduce O'Keefe’s prior Judgment of Conviction for felony domestic
battery involving Whitmarsh. Further, if O'Keefe testified, then the State could
prove his other prior felony convictions, Pursuant to the Court’s ruling, the State
was permitted to introduce only the details of when O'Keefe was convicted, in which
Jurisdiction, and the names of the offenses, and with the felony domestic battery,
the fact that Whitmarsh had testified against him in that case. 3/16/09 TT 2-16.

This case was first tried before this Court beginning March 16, 2009. After
five days of trial, on March 20, 2009, the jury returned a verdict finding O'Keefe
guilty of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. On May 5, 2009, this
Court sentenced O'Keefe to 10 to 25 years for second-degree murder and 4
consecutive 96 to 240 months (8 to 20 years) on the deadly weapon enhancement.

O’Keefe timely appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. After briefing, the
Court reversed O'Keefe’s conviction, agreeing with him that the district court “erred
by giving the State’s proposed instruction on second-degree murder because it sef]
forth an alternative theory of second-degree murder, the charging document did not
allege this alternate theory, and no evidence supported this theory.” The Court
explained, “[TThe State’s charging document did not allege that O'Keefe killed the
victim while he was committing an unlawful act and the evidence presented at trial

did not support this theory of second-degree murder.” O'Keefe v, State, NSC Docket]
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No. 53859, Order of Reversal and Remand (April 7, 2010). The Court further
stated, “The district court’s error in giving this instruction was not harmless
because it is not clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational juror would have
found O'Keefe guilty of second-degree murder absent the error.” Id. at 2

After remand to this Court, O’'Keefe continued to assert his rights to a speedyj
trial, and the case was retried beginning August 23, 2010, During that trial, the
State introduced new bad act evidence and arguments never before noticed and/or
ruled upon. O'Keefe moved for a mistrial during that case, based wupon]
prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument. That motion was denied,
8/31/10 TT 163-65, 168-69. The retrial ended with a hung jury. Again, O'Keefe
invoked his speedy trial rights and the case was set to begin a third trial on|
January 24, 2011.

On January 3, 2011, the State faxed to defense counsel a Supplementall
Notice of Expert Witnesses stating that it intended to present the testimony of
Andrea Sundberg, as “an expert in battered women’s syndrome, power and control
dynamics, and the cycle of abuse, generally,” in its case in chief at the upcoming re-
retrial of Mr. O’Keefe. The State’s notice had no reports attached to it, and thd
defense is unaware what the expert’s opinion would be, if any, in this area,
Moreover, the State had never before noticed an expert or sought permission tg
present expert testimony or evidence relating to the dynamics and effects of

domestic violence or abuse.
RELEVANT FACTS

Preceding the August 2010 retrial, O'Keefe sought to introduce expert

testimony and evidence regarding Whitmarsh’s diagnosed psychological conditions
and mental health history, See August 19, 2010 Motions Hearing Transcript 28-36;
8/23/11 TT 1-11; see_alsg Motion By Defendant O'Keefe to Admit Evidence
Pertaining to the Alleged Victim’s Mental Health Condition and History, filed
7/21/10; and Court's Exhibit B admitted during the March 2009 trial. In opposition

to the defense request for admission of Whitmarsh's various diagnoses, which
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included bipolar disorder borderline personality traits, panic attacks with
agoraphobia, and anxiety disorder, the prosecutor argued, “I mean, now what we'’ra
going to do is we're going to have a — a shrink come in, I guess, and analyze someond
who's dead after the fact.” The Court responded, “Well, we’re not having it at this
point,” 8/19/10 Motions Hearing Transcript at 35. The defense argued, in pért, that]
Whitmarsh’'s prior conduct shown in the medical records was relevant to show
alternative reasons why the knife might have been brought into the bedroom and
why the neighbors might have heard noises when Whitmarsh was alone in the
apartment, and to show a possible non-criminal cause of death and balance the
prejudice from the evidence of O'Keefe's prior conviction and Morris's accusations
admitted to show intent/motive. The Court ruled that the parties should attempt to
determine to which evidence from the medical records they might stipulate. The
parties disagreed on a stipulation, and the Court granted in part, the defense's
request to present certain facts, However, the Court denied the defense's request to
present evidence of Whitmarsh's diagnoses or expert testimony related to these
diagnoses. 8/23/10 TT 8-10; 8/24/10 TT 2-11,

During the retrial voir dire, the Court also ruled that the State could not]
discuss battered women's syndrome. 8/23/10 TT 13-16.

To briefly summarize the basic evidence presented at trial, O'Keefe and
Whitmarsh had a dating relationship which began in 2001. In 2008, O’Keefe was
convicted of felony domestic battery conviction involving Whitmarsh, and he went to
prison. 8/26/10 TT 27; 8/30/10 TT 169. After his release, and in January, 2008, he
began dating Cheryl Morris. Later, in June, 2008, he also resumed a relationship
with Whitmarsh., 8/26/10 TT 27. By September, 2008, O'Keefe had left Morris in|
favor of Whitmarsh, and he and Whitmarsh began living together, Id, at 35.

On November 5, 2008, beginning shortly after 9:00 p.m., downstairg
neighbors began hearing noise coming from OKeefe and Whitmarsh’'s upstairs
apartment. 8/26/10 TT 85. There had never been noise up there before; the couple
was very quiet. Id. at 85, 91, The only voice heard sounded like a female. Id. at 98.
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Charles Toliver went upstairs and found O’Keefe and Whitmarsh in their bedroom;
O’Keefe was holding Whitmarsh and talking to her, and she appeared to be
unconscious. Id. at 135-38, 1562. Charles ran out of the apartment and started|
hollering for help. Id. at 140. Jimmy Hathcox, who lived next door to O'Keefe and|
Whitmarsh, had also heard a little ruckus going on, but the walls are paper thin
and it did not seem out of the ordinary. Id. at 250-51. Hathcox never heard yelling,
and the noises he heard from the apartment could have been someone banging]
things around in a temper fit. Hathcox heard a bang on the rail putside, looked ouf]
and saw O'Keefe entering his apartment. Id. at 253-54. About 15 minutes after
Hathcox saw O'Keefe enter the apartment, he heard Toliver yelling for help. Id. at
253.

Police responded but O'Keefe did not obey their commands that he leave
Whitmarsh's body. While lying next to Whitmarsh, he was twice tased then|
arrested. 8/27/10 TT 84-85, 169. It was apparent that he was extremely
intoxicated. Id. at 133, He was interviewed, and the redacted interview, was played|
for the jury. 8/30 T'T 180.

Law enforcement found no disarray in O'Keefe’s apartment, except for in the
bedroom where O'Keefe and Whitmarsh were found, There was a l.a.rge knife on the
bed, and analysis of it showed both Whitmarsh’s and O'Keefe's blood. 8/27/10 TT)
220; 8/30/10 TT 151-55.

(’Keefe had cuts on his right thumb and finger. 8/27/10 TT 14. Defense
expert George Schiro testified that it was more likely that O'Keefe was cut beford
Whitmarsh received her fatal cut. 8/27/10 TT 32. O’Keefe’s cuts could have been
caused by grabbing the blade. Id. Schiro also testified that the possibility of an
accidental stabbing could not be ruled out. Id. at 44.

Whitmarsh had a psychiatric history which included self-mutilation, angey]
outbursts, and suicide attempts involving knives, 8/30/10 TT 212-15.

The State’s medical examiner, Dr. Benjamin, ruled the cause of death was

homicide, but neither she, nor the defense expert medical examiner, Dr, Grey, could
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rule out accident or suicide based on the physical evidence. 8/25/10 TT 104, 106;
8/26/10 TT 170-71. Whitmarsh had both healing and acute bruising, but few of the
bruises were determined to be acute, and the bruising could have been consistent
with bumping into things or being bumped into, and also would have been likely
been exacerbated by Whitmarsh’s advanced liver cirrhosis and use of alcohol. Hed

blood alcohol level at the time of death was .24, 8/25/10 TT 78; 8/26/10 TT 161-223.

ARGUMENT
1. DOUBLE JEOPARDY BARS MUST APPLY TO PREVENT RETRIAL.
Double jeopardy bars under the United States and Nevada Constitutions

prevent retrial where the prosecution has committed intentional misconduct for the
purpose of improving its case upon retrial.

The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions,
mandate that no person shall "be subject . . . to be twice put in jeopardy" for the
same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V; Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8. Jeopardy attaches
when a jury is sworn, and the guarantee against double jeopardy may éntitle a
defendant who is put to trial to go free if the trial fails to end in a final judgment.
See Glover v. District Court, 125 Nev. __, _, 220 P.3d 684, 692 (2009). The publiq
has an interest in seeing that verdicts in criminal cases are the result of “honest

deliberation by individuals who are of a mind free from bias and prejudice.” Glover,

125 Nev. at __, 220 P.3d at 692 (quoting Merritt v, District Court, 67 Nev. 604,
607, 222 P.2d 410, 411 (1950)), |

The Double Jeopardy Clause protects, in part, “the ‘deeply ingrained]
principle that ‘the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to
make repeated attempts to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby]
subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in|
a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility

that even though innocent he may be found guilty." Yeager v. United States, |
U.S. __, 129 S. Ct. 2360, 2365-66 (2009) (quoting Green v. United States, 3656 U.S.
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184, 187-188, 78 S, Ct. 221 (1957)) (other citations omitted). See also United States
v. Jorn, 400 U.S. 470, 479, 91 S, Ct. 547, 554 (1971). This interest is “implicated|

whenever the State seeks a second trial after its first attempt to obtain a conviction
results in a mistrial because the jury has failed to reach a verdict.” Yeager, 129 S.
Ct. at 2366.

It is unacceptable for the prosecution to seek tactical advantage by using an

aborted proceeding as a trial run for the next, In Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S.
497, 98 5. Ct. 824 (1978), the Supreme Court stated:

Even if the first trial is not completed, a second prosecution may be
grossly unfair. It increases the financial and emotional burden on the
accused, prolongs the period in which he is stigmatized by an
unresolved accusation of wrongdoing, and may even enhance the risk
that an innocent defendant may be convicted. The danger of such
unfairness to the defendant exists whenever a trial is aborted before it
is completed, Consequently, as a general rule, the prosecutor is
entitled to one, and only one, opportunity to require an accused to
stand trial.

Id. at 503-05, 98 S. Ct. at 829-30 (footnotes omitted). The Court further explained
that the risk of an innocent being convicted increases with each trial because “evenl
‘subtle changes in the State's testimony, initially favorable to the defendant, may
occur during the course of successive prosecutions.” Id. at 504 n.14, 98 8. Ct. at 829
n.14 (quoting Green, 355 U.S. 184, 187-88).

Normally, the double jeopardy bar does not prevent retrial following a hung
jury. See Washington, 434 U.S. 514, 98 S, Ct. 824. However, an exception to this
rule is recognized where the prosecutorial misconduct results in a hung jury, and
the prosecutor intended to commit such misconduct for the purpose of a tactical
advantage upon retrial. See Ohig v. Betts, 2007 Ohio 5533, Ohio App. Lexis 4873,
p.23 (2007). In Betts, the same rare factual scenario as the instant case was
present, ie., ‘the somewhat unusual backdrop of potential double jeopards

implications following the denial of the motion for mistrial and the case is then
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retried following a hung jury.” Ohio App. Lexis 4873, at 10. The court relied on the
decision in another procedurally similar case, United States v. Gollamudi, E.D.N.Y,
No. CR-91-518, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1402 (Jan. 29, 1993), and concluded that]
prosecutorial misconduct will bar a subsequent retrial where the prosecutor acted
with the specific intent either to inspire a motion for a mistrial, or to obtain 4
conviction where an acquittal was likely. [d. at 10-11. A hearing as to ths
prosecutor’s intent is necessary if there exists a genuine issue in the mind of the
trial court concerning the prosecutor's intent. Id. at 12.

Improper advocacy that places prejudicial and inadmissible evidence beford
the jury can create an unacceptable risk of biased jury deliberations and require g
mistrial, Glover, 125 Nev, at _ , 220 P.3d at 692. A defendant need not showj
prejudice in order to properly invoke the double jeopardy bar. Washington, 434 U.S.
at 504 n.15, 98 S. Ct. at 829 n.15. The strictest scrutiny must be applied where
there is reason to believe that the prosecutor is using the superior resources of the
State to harass or achieve a tactical advantage over an accused. Id. at 507, 98 S. Ct.
at 831-32.

Evidence of intentional misconduct here:

I ntroduction of Improper Euidence and Argument

During the August, 2010 trial, the State repeatedly introduced impropey]
character evidence without first seeking permission as required by Nevada law.
NRS 48.015 provides that “relevant evidence” means evidence having any tendency
to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the
action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” NRS 48.025(2)
recognizes that “[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” NRS 48.035

provides in part that:

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative
value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice,
of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.
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2. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is

' y

substantially outweighed by considerations of undue delay, waste of time
or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. . . .

Additionally, “[a]bsent certain exceptions, evidence of a person’s character on

a trait of his character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that he acted in

conformity therewith on a particular occasion. Further, evidence of other crimes,

wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show

that he acted in conformity therewith.,” Taylor v. State, 109 Nev. 849, 853, 858 P.2d
843, 846 (1993). Prior to admitting such other act evidence, the State must first]
bring a “Petrocelli” motion and request a hearing to determine if “(1) the incident ig
relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence;
and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the
danger of unfair prejudice.” Roever v. State, 114 Nev. 867, 872, 963 P.2d 503, 505-
06 (1998) (citing Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P,2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997);
(Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985)), However, even if the other-

act evidence is relevant to a permissible purpose and proven by clear and convincing
evidenice, a court should still exclude it if its probative value is substantially]
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Id. at 872, 963 P.2d at 505-06 (citing]
Tinch, 113 Nev. at 1176, 946 P.2d at 1064-65, |

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that the use of charécter évidénée to
convict a defendant is extremely disfavored in our criminal justice system. Such)
evidence is likely to be prejudicial and irrelevant and forces the accused to defend
against vague and unsubstantiated charges. It may improperly influence the jury
and result in the accused’s conviction because the jury believes he is a bad person.
The use of such evidence to show a propensity to commit the crime charged is
clearly prohibited by the law of this state and is commonly regarded as sufficient
ground for reversal on appeal. See Taylor, 109 Nev. at 854, 858 P.2d at 847.
7
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IEvidence introduced through witness Cheryl Morris:

Here, the State did not seek permission to introduce Morrig's allegations
about O'Keefe's statements and demonstrations regarding killing with knives as
prior bad act evidence at the first trial because the State did not believe it was bad
act or character testimony. 3/16/09 TT at 15-16. At that time, the evidence wag
limited to Cheryl Morris's claim that O'Keefe had claimed proficiency with knives
and could kill someone with a knife. When the defense raised the issue, the Court
ruled that the evidence did not show a bad act and that Morris would be allowed to
testify regarding the same. 3/16/09 TT 14-16.

Morris testified during the first trial that O'Keefe made statements
indicating that he was proficient with knives and that he was capable of killing
anyone with a knife. According to Morris, he demonstrated how he would kil]
someone with a knife: “O’Keefe would hold me on one shoulder and have a pretend
sort of weapon in his hand, and he would stand there and hold me as ... arm’'s
length and say he would come at me or could come at a person and shove it through
the cage — rib cage area and then just pull up pretty much . . . slicing someong
open.” 3/17/09 TT 17. Morris demonstrated this slicing action on her sternum area.
Id. at 17-18. Prior to the second trial, the defense again sought to exclude this
evidence. - Motion filed July 21, 2010. The Court heard argument on the motion
and ruled that the evidence was relevant and should be admitted. 8/19/10 TIT 2
Order filed September 9, 2010, p.1.

During the first trial, all parties operated under the assumption that (’Keefe
could introduce evidence of the loving and forward looking relationship of O'Keefe
and Whitmarsh during the period after he was released from prison. 3/16/09
Transcript at 12; see, e.g., 3/16/09 TT 259 (Jimmy Hathcox’s testimony that during
period of time Whitmarsh and O'Keefe lived at El Parque they appeared to be an|
open and loving couple); 3/19/09 TT 19-21 (testimony of Louis DeSalvio that]
Whitmarsh and O’Keefe seemed very upbeat in the fall of 2008). During the retrial
in August, 2010, the State sought to limit the evidence that O'Keefe could introduce
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as rebuttal to the evidence from Cheryl Morris regarding O'Keefe's alleged hatred of]
Whitmarsh. 8/26/10 TT 11-21. The Court limited the defense to asking what the
witnesses saw during the relevant time period (versus opinion on the couple’s
interaction), so as to not open the door to cross-examination on other prior bad acts.
Id. at 21; 8/25/10 TT 114.

During the retrial, however, Morris greatly expanded on the claims she
earlier made during her statement to the police, her preliminary heari_ﬁg testimony
and her first trial testimony. At the retrial, without seeking permission, the State
elicited several actual bad acts and bad character evidence through Morris's
testimony: i.e., that O’Keefe had killed people before, that he had been kicked out of]
his abode, that he had yelled at Whitmarsh, and evidence that Morris was afraid of]
O'Keefe, Furthermore, for the first time, Morris testified that OKeefe had
demonstrated yet another way of killing people, never before mentioned: slicing
someone across the throat.

Specifically, Morris testified that O’Keefe would become angry over being
sent to prison based upon a trial invelving Whitmarsh. 8/26/10 TT 29-30. He would
say he hated the bitch and wanted to kill her. He did this multiple times. Id. at 30.
During the same conversations, he would tell her about his experience in the
military killing people. Id. He would talk about it and say it was either kill or be)
killed and he would talk about the kind of weapon he would use. Id. He said the
military trained him to kill. Id. He was very equipped for hand to hand combat,
basically using a knife. He would describe killing someone by taking a knife and
shoving it upwards toward their sternum and pulling up. Or perhaps coming up
from behind and taking the knife from the left side of the neck to the right side. Id.
at 31. This new evidence of prior killings is extremely prejudicial and not relevant
to any issue in this case. It goes way beyond evidence pertinent to O’Keefe's slill on
training, and depicfs O'Keefe as an actual killer. Moreover, because of the
discrepancies between these allegations and all former testimony and statements,
and Morris's obvious motive to lie as a spurned lover, her allegations about O’Keefe
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are now so incredible that they cannot meet the clear and convincing standard for
bad act admissibility. Furthermore, the alleged ability to kill a person with a knifég
by an upward slice from the chest or a slice across the throat is irrelevant to this
case where the alleged victim was killed by a puncture type stab wound under her
armpit that went directionally from front to back and downward. See 3/18/09 TT)
103, 118 (description of wound), Nothing occurred here which is close to the gutting
or upward sternum area slicing or neck slicing about which Morris newly testified.
The evidence makes no fact of consequence more or less probable. Additionally, the
evidence tends to show that O'Keefe acted consistent with a character trait of being
obsessed with killing with knives and that he has killed before and is a killer. Thig
is pure bad act or character evidence, and is highly inflammatory and ﬁnfairly
prejudicial.

Morris also testified for the first time that O'Keefe got “kicked out’ of the
trailer he was living in. 8/26/10 TT 28, Whether O’Keefe was evicted is irrelevant
to any fact of consequence here, and the implication that grounds existed to evict
him constitutes improper bad act evidence. The evidence’s only use is improper; tof

show bad character.

Morris further testified at the retrial that O'Keefe was attracted to
Whitmarsh because she was submissive. If he yelled at her, she'd do whatever he
asked. Id. at 32. Yelling at Whitmarsh constitutes improper bad act evidence,
which is more prejudicial than probative. Whether Whitmarsh was submissive also
constitutes improper character evidence, which the State was attempting to use to
show conformity with this character trait at the time in question.

Finally, Morris testified that after she and O’Keefe moved into the El Parque
apartment, then split up, she moved her things into the bedroom and had
maintenance put a lock on the bedroom door. 8/26/10 TT 36. This evidence is

irrelevant to any fact of consequence here and is overly prejudicial. It implies that
Morris herself was afraid of O'Keefe and that there was reason for this — hig

dangerous character. Accordingly, it is improper character evidence.
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Improper Argument relating to Expert Witnesses:

During rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor referred to defense expert
Schiro: “He’s the defendant’s high-paid expert from Louisiana.” 8/31/10 TT 144, Ax|
objection to this argument was sustained. As to defense expert Dr. Grey, the
prosecutor argued, ‘Dr. Grey came all the way from Utah to tell us that he could nof

rule out sutcide.” 8/31/10 TT 159,

These types of comments on experts being from other jurisdictions and their

fees constitute improper disparagement of defense experts. See Butler v. State, 120

Nev. 879, 899, 102 P.3d 71, 85 (2004).
Improper argument relating to ongoing domestic abuse:
The prosecutor also made reference to Whitmarsh’s bruising in various stages
of healing and argued that this indicated that she “had been roughly handled in anl
ongoing bashing.” 8/31/10 TT 155. The defense objected to this argument, thel
objection was sustained, and the defense made a motion for mistrial based in part]
on this improper argument; however this court denied the motion. Id. at 164, 169.
This is clearly a reference to inadmissible character evidence and is especially|
prejudicial in light of the fact that the defense had been limited from introducing
evidence from its witnesses to show that O'Keefe and Whitmarsh had a loving
relationship in the days and weeks before the incident at issue. As with the notice
problems during the original trial, the State gave no notice of its intent to rely on an
ongoing domestic abuse theory. There was likewise no evidence to support any
claim of domestic violence in the days and weeks before the incident. Indeed, the
neighbors claimed that there had never been any noise, and at the prior trial
Hathcox testified that they appeared to be a loving couple. Additionally, the
evidence at trial clearly showed an innocent explanation might exist for
Whitmarsh’s bruising.
i
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Improper evidence and argument regarding domestic violence:

Prior to the first trial, the State indicated that it would not introduce
evidence of domestic violence, except for the prior conviction for felony battery, and
even that evidence was to be limited. 8/16/09 TT 2-3, 12. Despite the prior rulings
of this Court, and the understandings of the parties, during the 2010 retrial, the
State repeatedly introduced the issue of domestic violence as a psychological
syndrome, a community problem and cause. For example, during voir dire, the
State inquired of jurors whether they felt domestic violence was a ‘community;
problem.” The defense objected, and the Court ruled that the State could not talld
about domestic violence syndromes or define that term. 8/23/10 TT (partial
transcript), p. 16,

In closing argument, the prosecutor stated; “4n anonymous domestic violenced
survivor once made this observation. If you can’t be thankful for what you have, bd
thankful for what you have escaped.” 8/31/10 TT 32. In rebuttal closing argument,
the prosecutor argued, ‘Tt was Ralph Waldo Emerson who said all vtolence, all that
is dreary, all that repels is not power. It is the absénce of power. In battering
Victoria in the hours leading up or the minutes leading up to her ultimate death, the
defendant didn’t show us what kind of power he has. He showed us how weak he is.
Men who beat women.” 8/31/10 TT 132. The prosecutor further argued, “Mary
Gianocos who is the director of Voices against violence once said. . . everything we
Enow. . . .” A defense objection to this argument was sustained. The prosecutos
continued, “Euverything we know about domestic violence is that it is about powen
and controlling people.” 8/31/10 TT 161. The defense made a motion for mistrial
based on this improper argument, id. at TT 165, but that motion was denied. Id. af
169.

Counsel should not intentionally refer to or argue on the basis of facts outside
the record, as doing so can involve the risk of serious prejudice, with a mistrial as 2

possible remedy. Glover, 125 Nev, at ___, 220 P.3d at 696. Here, it was misconduct
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for the State to rely on psychological syndromes, effects or dynamics of abuse or
domestic violence because there is no evidence which was admissible for thd
purpose of showing that O'Keefe had the character traits of an abuser or thaf]
Whitmarsh had the character traits of a victim. Also, NRS 48.061(2) specifically
prohibits the use of such evidence against an accused, “Expert testimony concerning
the effect of domestic violence may not be offered against a defendant . . . to prove
the occurrence of an act which forms the basis of a criminal charge against the
defendant.” Reliance on the dynamics of abusive relationships to prove this case is
improper. Additionally, it is misconduct for a prosecutor to appeal to the conscioud
of the community or societal concerns because the jurors’ only proper focus should

be on whether the State has proved its charge. See Atkins v. State, 112 Nev. 1122,

1138-39, 923 P.2d 1119 (1996) (Rose, J., concurring), gverruled on other grounds by,
Berjano v. State, 122 Nev, 1066, 1076, 146 P.3d 265 (2006).

The prosecutor’s conduct, whether misconduct or inexcusable negligence,
preceding a mistrial must be subjected to the strictest scrutiny because "the Double
Jeopardy Clause . . . protects] a defendant against governmental actions intended
to provoke mistrial requests . . . [or] bad faith conduct . . . [that] threatens thel
[h]arassment of an accused.” Glover, 125 Nev, at __ , 220 P.3d at 584 (quoting]
Washington, 434 U.S. at 508). It is apparent in this case that the prosecution
introduced the above challenged evidence and argument with the purpose of
goading the defense into seeking a mistrial or tainting the jurors’ consideration of
the legal evidence, Such misconduct tends to frustrate the public interest in having]
a just judgment reached by an impartial tribunal and creates the risk that the
panel will be tainted. Washington, 434 U.S. at 512-13, 98 S. Ct. at 834. Thd
prosecution’'s bad motive is demonstrated in part by the fact that it now seeks tq
remedy one of its problems in the prior trial, i.e., that it had not noticed an expert in
domestic violence though it wished to present evidence pertaining to domestia

violence, generally, in order to bolster its attempt to introduce this IMproper

17

0023




10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

13

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

character evidence. However, “[tlhe prohibition against double jeopardy
unquestionably "forbids the prosecutor to use the first proceeding as a trial run of
his case." Washington, 434 U.S. at 508, 98 S, Ct. at 831.32 (citing Note, Twice in
Jeopardy, 75 Yale L.J. 262, 287-288 (1965)).

2. THE STATE MUST BE PRECLUDED FROM INTRODUCING NEW,
EVIDENCE AND EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY WHICH WAS NOT
PREVIQUSLY TIMELY NOTICED AND WHICH IS OTHERWISE
INADMISSIBLE.

Where the State wishes to introduce expert testimony, notice is required

pursuant to NRS 174.234(2), which states:

If the defendant will be tried for one or more offenses that are
punishable as a gross misdemeanor or felony and a witness that a
party intends to call during the case in chief of the State or during the
case in chief of the defendant is expected to offer testimony as an
expert witness, the party who intends to call that witness shall file and
serve upon the opposing party, not less than 21 days before trial or
at such other time as the court directs, a written notice containing:

(a) A brief statement regarding the subject matter on which the
expert witness is expected to testify and the substance of the

testimony;
(b) A copy of the curriculum vitae of the expert witness; and
(©) A copy of all reports made by or at the direction of the expert

witness.

(Emphasis added.) With this statutory provision, the Nevada Legislature obvipusly
intended to protect defendants’ constitutional due process rights and ensure
adequate opportunity to prepare to meet the expert's testimony. Notwithstanding]
the State’s failure to properly notice an expert relating to domestic violence
dynamics and effects for the original trial, at the very latest, the State should havg
filed this notice no later than 21 days prior to the first retrial of the case. Even if
this Court rules that Double Jeopardy does not prevent the retrial, the very basis
for such a ruling lies in the fact that the retrial from a hung jury may be deemed g
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continuation of the initial jeopardy that attached when the last jury was empaneled
on August 23, 2010. Yeager, 129 S. Ct. at 2365-66 (“the inability to reach a decision
“is the kind of ‘manifest necessity’ that permits the declaration of a mistrial and the)
continuation of the initial jeopardy that commenced when the jury was firsi
impaneled”). Thus, if O'Keefe is not entitled to bar the entire prosecution based on
double jeopardy, he must be entitled to preclude the State from starting anew with
its witness and evidence notice periods. The retrial is merely a continuation of the
former trial, and the ability of the State to notice new expert witnesses ended at the
latests 21 days before the empaneling of the last jury.

It would be unfair and inconsistent with the Due Process Clauses of the
United States and Nevada Constitutions to allow the State the opportunity to
correct prior strategies and bolster its case with additional evidence or witnesses
when no good cause is shown for their failure to timely notice this evidence prior to
the aborted trial. The due process interest at issue here is analogous to the

situation presented in Bennett v. District Court, 121 Nev. ___ 121 P.3d 605 (2005).

There, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that lower court erred in allowing thd
State to allege new aggravators in support of a death sentence following a change in
law which invalidated aggravators found by the jury, where the State had chosen to
forego the proposed new aggravators during the notice period proscribed by SCR]
250. The Court explained that the required notice-period was designed to protect aj
capital defelndant's due process rights to fair and adequate notice of aggravating
circumstances, safeguard against any abuse of the system, and insert somed
predictability and timeliness into the process. Id. at . 131 P.3d at 6§10. See also
Browning v. State, 124 Nev. __, 188 P.3d 60, 74 (2008) (assuming without deciding

that the State might be prevented from presenting new penalty hearing evidence at
a second penalty trial, but concluding that minimal additional evidence - was

actually introduced); cf. State v. Hennessy, 29 Nev. 320, 341, 90 P. 221 (1907)
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(recognizing that where a judgment of conviction is reversed on appeal, withouf]
addressing all assignments of error, it is proper to give the defense an opportunity
to address them and the court an opportunity to correct them prior to a retrial),

The same due process type of considerations apply here. A retrial after a
mistrial for a hung jury, to be consistent with due process and not barred by double
jeopardy, must be considered a continuation of the previous trial. What it cannot be
is a chance for the State to start over with new witnesses and evidence not noticed
or tested during prior trials. This would encourage prosecutors, who had not met
witness deadlines for whatever reason, to engage in misconduct to attempt to cause
a mistrial. Here, the prosecutor certainly did attempt to i.ntroduce inadmiassible
evidence at the last trial. Because that conduct likely tainted thé jury’s
consideration of the evidence and caused the jury to hang versus acquit, the

prosecutors cannot be permitted to take advantage of the result to correct the

perceived weaknesses in their case. See also McMillian v. Weeks Marine, Inc., 2008
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76973, pp. 5-6 (D.C. Del., Sept. 30, 2008) (granting award of a new
civil trial on damages, but recognizing that an exception to the general rule
prohibiting new evidence upon retrial is where a court perceives a manifest
injustice in limiting evidence at retrial); Yong ex rel. Yong v. The Nemours
Foundation, 432 F. Supp. 2d 439, 441 (D. Del. 2006) ("[A]s a general rule, a retrial

should not involve the addition of new issues, evidence, or witnesses”). As the
State has failed to comply with the statutory notice requirement, it should be
precluded from presenting this new “expert’ testimony. See NRS 174.295
(providing that court may impose sanctions, including prohibiting a party from
introducing in evidence material not disclosed in compliance with NRS 174.234).

In addition, the State has failed to attach any expert's report to itd
supplemental notice. As such, the foundation for the expert’s knowledge regarding
this case is not known to the defense. To the extent that this expert intends. to rely]
on hearsay, her testimony would violate O'Keefe's Sixth Amendment rights as set
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forth in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S, Ct. 1354 (2004), Melendez
Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 1J.S. ——, 129 S, Ct. 2527 (2009); Polk v. State, 126 Nev.

— 233 P.3d 357 (2010). It does not matter whether any other state statute allows
for an expert to rely on hearsay, a defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights trump such
statutes. See Polk v. State, 126 Nev. . 933 P.3d 357 (2010) (rejecting argument
that because NRS 50.285 allowed an expert to offer opinion based on inadmissible
evidence, an analyst could testify to the results of a test performed by a non-
testifying analyst).

The introduction of any expert testimony on the subject of the dynamics on
effects of domestic violence, such as battered women's syndrome, domestic violence
power and control dynamics or the cycle of abuse can only be based on improper use
of character acts evidence. The use of such an expert to prove the basis of a charge

against a criminal defendant is prohibited by NRS 48.061. That statute provides, in|
full;

(1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, evidence of domestic
violence and expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic
violence, including, without limitation, the effect of physical, emotional
or mental abuse, on the beliefs, behavior and perception of the alleged
victim of the domestic violence that is offered by the prosecution or
defense is admissible in a criminal proceeding for any relevant
purpose, including, without limitation, when determining:

(a) Whether a defendant is excepted from criminal liability pursuant
to subsection 7 of NRS 194.010, to show the state of mind of the
defendant.

(b) Whether a defendant in accordance with NRS 200.200 has killed
another in self-defense, toward the establishment of the legal defense.

(2) Expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic violence may not
be offered against a defendant pursuant to subsection 1 to prove the
occurrence of an act which forms the basis of a criminal charge against
the defendant.

21

002




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

1B

15

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

(3) As used in this section, "domestic violence" means the commission
of any act described in NRS 33.018.

(Emphasis added.) Subsection 2 above makes it clear that the State’s reliance on
the dynamics of abusive relationships to prove its case is improper.

| In addition, introduction of such evidence at trial would cause unfaiy
prejudice and confuse the issues and mislead the jury. NRS 48.035(1) (Although
relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of
misleading the jury.) Victoria Whitmarsh’s medical records are attached as a sealed
Exhibit to this motion. They demonstrate all of the following:

At the time of her death, she had been previously diagnosed with various

serious psychiatric disorders: For example, in 2001, before she met O'Keefe, she

was admitted to Monte Vista Hospital following a suicide attempt, and she was
diagnosed with major depressive épisode, panic disorder with agoraphobia. Exh. at
233, 248, 2561. In 2006, while at Monte Vista for another suicide attempt, which|
occurred while O'Keefe was incarcerated, she was diagnosed with bipolar disorder
II, depressed versus recurrent major depressive disorder, and borderline personality,
traits. Exh. at 6, 13, 17, 136. In 2007, while at Southern Nevada Adult Mental
Health, she admitted to past auditory hallucinations. Exh. at 361, 364.

She has been diagnosed with various other health problems, including peptic
ulcer disease, hepatitis C, arthritis, underweight and liver cirrhosis. Exh. at 13.

She has a long history of impulse control and anger problems, predating her

relationship with O'Keefe and during periods when she was not in a relationship

with O'Keefe. In 2001, she was “angry, screaming and ‘went berserk’ after an
argument with her husband and overdosed on pills and cut her wrist.” Exh at 11,
27-28, 65, She also reported anxiety attacks and panic-like symptoms, .and shel
expressed her anger by throwing things. Exh. at 250, 275.
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In 2006, doctors noted that she had poor anger management, “high moods

”

poor impulse control,” “anger

FLN {4

and problems of anger,” “substantial mood swings,
outbursts,” “racing thoughts” and “significant anxiety.” Exh. at 5, 10, 11,.28, 64,
134. The substantial mood swings began around 2000 but she had some mood
episodes prior to that. Exh. at 134, In 2006, her treatment plan included cognitive)
behavioral therapy to help her explore her self-destructive behaviors and anger]
management. Exh. at 14. She reported that she destroys property, and that her|
triggers to escalating behaviors are “if I don't get what I want & have to repeat]
myself.” Exh. at 64, 134.

Whitmarsh had reported long-term abuse by her hushand, including verbal,
sexual and physical abuge. During her 2001 admission to Monte Vista, Whitmarsh
made reports that: she was the victim of spousal abuse by her husband,
“(alcoholic/violent) (phys./sexually & mentally) x 18 years,” Exh. at 321: her
husband was abusive mentally and physically and he was an alccholic who would
not work, id. at 239; she had a “long history of enabling her husband who ig
physically abusive,” id, at 242; she was aggravated with her husband who was
using her, drinks quite heavily and abuses her, and her major stress in her ]ife was
her husband, id. at 246-48, 250, 253, 260; she was in a very abusive relationship
and did not want to go home after her hospitalization, id. at 285; she had been
married for 18 years to an alcoholic/abusive/nonworking husband, id. at 286; her
husband had hit her, id. at 291; lier husband was verbally abusive, id. at 291; and
she wanted to die due to marital discord and financial stress, id, at 376. At the time
of her 2002 admission to Monte Vista for drug treatment, she again reported that
her husband was an alcoholic, who abused her when drunk: she also reported stress
at work and problems in relationship with her estranged husband who is an
alcoholic. Id. at 197, 201. In 2006, during her admission to Monte Vista for a
suicide attempt while O'Keefe was incarcerated, she reported ongoing conflicts with
her estranged husband, her sister and her 21 year old daughter, as well as chronid
marital problems with her husband. Exh. at 26, 57. She also reported that she had
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been staying with her husband and daughter but her daughter wanted her to leave
after her suicide attempt. Id. at 134.
She has a history of suicide attempts after arguments with her husbhand and

during periods in which she had no dating relationship with O'Kéefe. These

include: two suicide attempts in the 1980s both since she married her husband; one

was an overdose on pain medications after a fight with her husband. Exh. at 10,
134; the 2001 attempt, which resulted in her hospitalization at Monte Vista where
she met O'Keefe, was her fourth suicide attempt; id. at 250; with respect to the 2001
attempt, she overdosed on pills and lacerated her wrists with a knife; she wag
frustrated depressed, suicidal and aggravated with her husband who had been
using her and drinks quite heavily, id. at 11, 246-48; she “was angry, screaming and
‘went berserk’ after an argument with her estranged husband,” id. at 11, 58, 186,
199, 233-39, 261, 260, 326, 335. In 2006, she overdosed on Xanax and Morphine
and cut her wrist, id. at 5, 8-11. In 2007, she was admitted to Southern Nevada
Adult Mental Health Services on a Legal 2000 after she felt depressed and took a
handful of Tramadol. At the time, she was residing with her husband. Exh. at 361

65.
She has a history of self-mutilation with knives and scissors. Records from

her 2001 Monte Vista admission show that she had poor impulse control as ébntrol
as evidenced by the fact that she cuts herself when angry. Exh. at 271. Shé
reported stabbing herself on her hands in 2006 “because I am not happy with
myself.” She stated that when she is angry, she will self-mutilate. Id. at 273. Inl
2006, she reported that she “has been self-mutilating for the past 15 years andl
stated that she cuts herself when she is angry” and “she cut her left wrist [] with 4
pair of scissors on September 22, 2006.” Exh. at 10, 38, 39.

She had a history of heavy alcohol use and drug dependence. Records show
that she abused Lortab, Percocet and Oxycotin and she had been to detox twice:
once in 2002, and once in 2006. Exh. at 11, 185-87. The 2002 treatment was for
Opiate and Xanﬁx dependence. Exh. at 185-87. In 20086, she was diagnosed with

24

- 00234

b [




10

11

12

i3

14

15

16

17

1B

15

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

2B

benzodiazepine dependence, opiate dependence, and alcohol dependence sustained
in full remission. Exh, at 6, 13, 17, 136.

The defense has never been notified of any evidence, and is aware of none,
showing the Whitmarsh has ever beén diagnosed with suffering from battered
wornen's syndrome. Allowing such evidence to be presented now, although the
defense has been denied the opportunity to present expert testimony pertaining to
Whitmarsh’s actual diagnoses, and especially in light of the numerous instances of
misconduct by the State and the failure to timely notice such an expert or the basis
for any opinions relevant to this case, would violate O'Keefe’s due process rights,
confuse the issues and mislead the jury, given the documented psychiatric history of
Whitmarsh during periods when she was not in a domestic relationship with

O'Keefe,

3. OKEEFE IS ENTITLED TO A DISMISSAI, BASED ON THE
VIOLATIONS OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTQRY,

SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHTS.

O'Keefe’s has been prejudiced by the multiple trials in this case, having to
undergo the stress and anxiety attendant to multiple trials and a lengthy pretrial
detention since his arrest on November 6, 2008. His constitutional and statutory]
rights to a speedy trial have been violated, and he is entitled to dismissal withl
prejudice. U.S. Const. amend. VI; NRS 178.556(1).

NRS 178.556(1) provides in relevant part, “If a defendant whose trial has not
been postponed upon the defendant's application is not brought to trial within 60
days after the arraignment on the indictment or information, the district court may
dismiss the indictment or information.” This statutory speedy trial right.app]ies toj
the resetting of a trial following a mistrial. Rodriguez v. State, 91 Nev. 782, 542
P.2d 1065 (1975). Dismissal if the defendant is not brought to trial within 60 days
1s mandatory if there is not good cause shown for the delay. Anderson v. State, 86

Nev, 829, 477 P.2d 595 (1970); Huebner v, State, 103 Nev. 29, 731 P.2d 1330 (1987).

The state has the burden of showing good cause for delay of the trial. Huebner id.
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An accused is not required to show that he was prejudiced by the failure to bring
him to trial within 60 days after the finding of an indictment. State v. Craig, 87

Nev, 199, 484 P.2d 719 (1971).
O’Keefe has at all times asserted his right to a speedy trial, and even
assuming the Court’s calendar constitutes good cause for the January 24, 2011 trial
setting, a delay of 145 days from the date the mistrial was declared on September 1,
2010, by its conduct affecting the last trial (and possibly now O'Keefe's ability to go
forward with the current setting), the State has caused unexcused delay and furthen
prejudice to O'Keefe.
When the State last presented this case, it was not prepared to prresent the;
testimony of a battered women’s syndrome expert. It had failed to give any proper
notice for such expert. The fact that it seeks to improve its strategies (although
upon an illegitimate basis), by taking advantage of the mistrial to notice a new
witness, indicates that its prior misconduct was done in bad faith or at least with
reckless disregard to O’Keefe’s procedural rights. A “trial judge must recbgnize that]
lack of preparedness by the Government to continue the trial directly implicates
policies underpinning both the double jeoinardy provision and the speedy tirial
guarantee.” Jorn, 400 U.S. at 485, 91 S. Ct. at 557-58. The State's misconduct and
bad intent vitiate any good cause to continue the trial beyond the last trial setting.
Allowing this late-noticed expert would cause even further delay.. O'Keefe
would need to request approval from the County to retain his own battered women'’s
syndrome expert to counter the State's new evidence. Thus, there is likewise ng
good cause to allow the State to cause such further delay by allowing its newly
noticed expert to present evidence which he could not have presented at the last
trial and which is inadmissible as irrelevant and overly prejudicial.
I
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CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, Defendant Brian O'Keefe respectfully
requests that this Court grant his Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice, or in the
alternative, preclude the State from introducing new evidence, expert testimony of
argument relating to the dynamics or effects of domestic violerce or abuse,
including battered women's syndrome, power and control dynamics, the cycle of

abuse, or domestic violence generally,

DATED this 7th day of January, 2011,
PATM LAW FIRM, LTD.
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Patrlcla Palm, Bar No. 6009
1212 Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Phone: (702) 386-9113

Fax: (702) 386-9114
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